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MR. HILIMAN: Mr. Grimes and I have talked about
that.

THE. COURT: .All right. Mr. Grimes, just based on my
cursory review. I mean, the State obviously has to —— I'm
assuming you have éertified Jjudgments of cénviction?

MS. BOTELHO: We do, Your Heonor, for both.

THE COURT: Ckay. And I would look at them, but
based upon)their proffer thus far, it locks like —— and
they're battery demestic violence felonies, correct? 1Is that
corréct? Mr. Burns, are théy battery DV felonies?

MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor, abuse or injury on a
corporal spouse.

THE COURT: O©h, that's right. California says it a
little bit differéntly. Ckay. So if you took the stand énd
tegstified, whoever cross—examines you will be able to ask you
about those prior felonies because they're within the ten
years. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Have you had an opportunity to
discuss whether you should testify or exercise your right to
remain silent with your attorneys?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Have they answered all your questions?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes,

THE COURT: Do you have any questions of me? If you

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
168
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have any questions, feel free to ask.‘ Go ahead, just say
whatever it is. I1'll figure it out,

THE DEFENDANT: I'm just —— I know there's a window
where I could give an answer —-

THE COURT: It's now.

THE DEFENDANT: -—— 24 hours.

THE COURT: Wo, you cannot. It's now.

THE DEFENDANT: That's what I mean. 8o I'm just

trying to give it a cuick thought.
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THE COURT: 2and I don't require you to tell me.
Remember yesterday when I said you're entitled to see and hear
all of the evidence against you before I ask you. That's why

I didn't ask you vesterday. So I gol a jury cut there

waiting.

THE DEFENDANT: WNo questions.

THE COURT: All right. Have you decided whether.

‘you're going to testify or not?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: What are you going to do?
THE DEFENDANT: I'm not going to testify.

THE COURT: You're not going to testify?

THE DEFENDANT: DNoO.

THE COURT: Okay. And your attorney has told you how

that could change the case and how I will instruct the jury,

correct?

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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THE: DEFENDANT: Yes.

MR, HILIMAN: &And we'd like tc make a record on thal
if we could briefly when you're done. |

THE COURT: 1I'm done. If he doesn't want to testify.

MR, HILIMAN: Right. And I_talked-to Mr. Grimes for
a few minutes.‘ Fe indicated he wanted to testify. We talked
about rebuttal evidence. He decided that, and I don't know
what he based his decision on, he decided that he —— it would
e more harm than good for him to testify at this point in
time. Is that correct, Bennett?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

MR. HILIMAN: Okay. 2nd what the basis of our
conversation was is that while reviewing jury instructions we
came £o the self-defense instructions and Your Honor indicated
that she felt that the state of the evidence was not such that
we are entitled to argue for self-defense. VWe respectfully
disagree with Your Honor con that and feel that we've met a
scintilla of evidence.

THE COURT: And go ahead and tell me what you think
thé evidence is and how you would argue self—defénse. Because
T'm not suggesting that there's evidence that you could argue
certain aspects, it was what I was told would be argued. And
so, that's not on the record, so why don't you go ahead and
tell me what your theory is about how Ms. Grimes obtained all

of those wounds and I'1l let you make ydur record.

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAET
170
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MR. HILLMAN: Beginning with the positioning of the
parties as lndlcated on our diagrams, as well as in the
photographs shown by the State that Mr. Grimes entered the
apartment, spent most of his time near the door. There may
have been some testimony that he approached Aneka. Aneka did
say that he approached her. Grabbed the knife and ?ulled her

ro the door and then began stabbing her.

Our argument would be that it was just as reasonable

that —— that's kind of an unreasonable scenario, that actually
" Bennett was standing by the door. She said that she wanted to
get him out of her life forever and that she grabbed a knife

“ and approached Bennett.

THE COURT: Okay.

I MR.‘HILLMAN: All of the bloodstains —-—

THE COURT: Right up to he's standing by the door.

H Tt's right up to there I'm okay. It's when you Cross over to
Ms. Grimes graboed that knife in the kitchen, went cut of the

" kitchen and went after him. That's the part that T don't

pelieve there is any evidence whatsoever, not even a

reascnable inference.

MR. HILIMAN: And we're not saying if she went in the
kitchen, grabbed a knife. She was standing at the counter
next to the knife rack and had a direct shot at him five to
seven feet away, as she said. She could not remember how he

grabbed her, how he pulled her over to the door. And if

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
171
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someone's going to stab someone, why in the world would they
pull them five to seven feet next to the door and then start
stabbing them - |

THE COURT: Rlock the front door so the mom can't get
out. _

MR. HILIMAN: —— instead of grabbing the knife from
the dish rack and starting the attack right there? That's the
basis of our self-defense.

THE COURT: I think that's fine. I think you can
argue that'whét she says doesn't make sense.

MR, HILLMAN: Correct.

TEE COURT: That's perfectly permissible. Where I
have the problem is when you want to stand in fronﬁ of the
jury and say that Ms. Grimes —— 1 think there's eﬁen a
reasonable inference that she was closest to the knife. Okay.
Rut it's after that when you say that he's by the front docr,
she's five to seven feet away and that she was the original
aggressor and that she began stabbing him. 2And that in order
to save his own life — well, I guess you didn't even tell —
it wasn't even really that. There was a struggle that ensued
and in that struggle she ended up with 21 stab wounds and that
that was self-defense.

MR. HILIMABN: Also, in addition, the DNA on the
knife, the fact that her DNA was on the knife, Mr. Grimes was

not.

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
172
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1 THE COURT: Okay. I'm okay with all that. TIt's the

5> [ in petween. I mean, I'll just tell you straight out. Mr.

|
iy

3 Grimés, there's absolutely'no evidence, none, that she grabbed

Ll UL,

Ll
A=

that knife, went after you, attempted to stab you and that
5 |} somehow you acted in self-defense and she received 21 stab :
6 || wounds in sélf—defense. Ckay? Everything else you've said, T |
7 agree you can argue all that. I'm not going to —— your

8 || attorneys can only argue the evidence and reasonable

9 I inferences of the evidence. They cannot make up a story.

10 Wéll, they can defend you to the extent that the evidence

11 " allows them to defend you. Okay?

12 There is -— we had Ms. Grimes here and everybody had
13 " an opportgnity to clearly ask her whether she went after him
14 |} with the knife and whether this was a struggle. VThere's —-

15 P your attorneys can argue everything except —— I mean, they dan
16 || even argue she nhad her hand on that knife because the evidence
17 onuld support that argument, that she had her hand cn that

18 r knife. There's just no evidence to support her being the

19 P original aggressor and that there was some kind of —— I don't

20 || even know. I don't want to put words in your mouth. So how

— 21 “ did she get those stab wounds? What would you argue to the

; 22 || Jury? I'm not telling -— Mr. Grimes doesn't have to answer
23 || that.
24 MR. HILLMAN: She approached him with the knife,

= 25 || there was an altercation over the knife and she got those stab

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAET
173
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wounds because he's stronger and bigger than she is and they
were fighting over the knife.

THE COURT: And you know what? There's.no evidence
of how strong he is. There's no evidence of how tall he is.
There;s_no evidence about how much he weighs. Nor is there
any evidence about Aneka Grimes. .None of that was elicited.

MR. BILIMAN: Other than the visual that the jurors
have of both parties.

THE COURT: I'm not going to let the jury speculate
as to how big the parties are.

MR. HILLMAN: They have seen him standing here when
ne's — when they've walked in and walked out.

THE COURT: Okay. So? State it one more time for
me. Just state it one more time.

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, at this point this is our

theory of the case. Our thecry of the case basically is that

“ we have met the scintilla of evidence standard that we need in

order to get a self-defense instruction. We are not required
to get it even to probable cause, Jjust a scintilla of
evidence.

THE COURT: I completely agree with you.

MS. HOJJAT: We think we've met the scintilla of
evidence due to the fact that all of the testimony places Mr.
Grimes five to seven feet away from the knife. All of the

testimony places Ms. Grimes, the victim, Mrs. Grimes directly

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAEFT
174
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next to the knife. Due to the fact that the testimony as to
the forgnsic analysis of the knife shows that at least what
could be found by the State, there was no toucﬁ DNA of Mr.
Grimes on that knife handle. There was another individual's
touch DNA on that knife handle. There was Ms. Grimes' DNA on
that knife handle. We can speculate as to whether it was a
comoination of touch DNA and fluids, but the point is —

THE COURT: We don't need to speculate because she
told us it was blcod.

- MS. HOJJAT: She said it could have been a

combination of both, Your Honor. She said it wasn't just
biood, it could be touch DNA and blocd. And the point is,

Your Honor, that because another male's Louch DNA was found on

that knife, the blood had not overwhelmed all of the touch DNA

on this knife. But Mr. Grimes' touch DNA was not found on
this knife,

So given the facts and circumstances that he's fiVe
to seven feet away, she's standing right next to the knife,
none of his touch DNA is found on the knife, and we would
afgue to the jury how reasonable does it sound that you'd drag
somebody five to seven feet before you stab them. Now,
whether there's a response to that or not, it is an argument
that we can make to the jury. We do believe that those things
together do rise to the level of a scintilla of evidence that

he's not the first person who touched that knife that day,

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
175
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he's not the person who picked up the knife and began the
aggression that day.

| THE COURT: 1If that's all you say. i mean, if you
say as little as you say right now, T don't know what that
géts you. 1'm not sure that gets you to self-—defense., You
still have é_person who has 21 stab wounds and another person
with none. Witﬁ that, with a cut on their right index finger.

MS. HOJJAT: And, Judge, clearly, Your Honor doesn't
feel that this rises to the level of more likely than not ——

THE COURT: Tt doesn't matter what I think.

MS.‘HOJJAT: —— or beyond a reascnable doubt.

THE COURT: T'm trying to find a scintilla of
evidence. I can't even find a scintilla of evidence to —
everything you said, you can argue his DNA-wasn't on there.
You can argue his touch DNA, all that you can argue. And you
can argue in her home, her DNA was on her knife., That's all
fine. That doesn't bother me. It's when you then take the
leap and say she took that hand in her knife — I'm sorrf,
+hat knife in her hand and that she went after your client in
an effort to stab him. And then he had.to stab her 21 times
to thwart the attack on himself? Because it would be — that
would bé deadly force. That would be deadly force. He'd have
the right to use deadly force against her if that happened.
But there's got to be sbmething that gets you to your ability

to use deadly force to get you there.

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRARFT
176
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II MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, we do think the fact that

she was the one positioned closer to the knife. She was the

only person in that apartment who actually knew that knife was

‘there because the testimony was the knife was on a drying
llrack, it wasn't in the proper place that a knife is going to
be. She was frankly the only perscn in the apartment who

,lactually wnew that knife was on that drying rack because it

|

was on the other side of the counter. She's the person

standing next to it.

THE COURT: You're getting caught up on where that

on the planet that knew where that knife was.

|
7 MS. HOJJAT: Then we do think we've risen to the
’ 1evel of the scintilla of evidence of seif—defense if she's
|the person who grabbed the knife.
’ THE COURT: Who grabbed the knife and then —
“ | MS. HOJJAT: Moved towards him, Your Honor.
THE COURT: You den't get to —- you don't get to use
” deadly force against someone unless deadly force is being used
against you. So you have to tell me there is a scintilla of

, evidence that deadly force was used against your client.

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, the positioning also, we do
pelieve there's a scintilla of evidence that she moved towards
the entryway, because again, he's in the entryway the whole

time. She's the one at the counter, she's moving towards the

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAET
177
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entryway. We believe there is enough for a scintilla of
evidence that she grabbed the knife, she moved towards the
entryway. We do think that's enough for é scintilla of
evidence that this.was self-defense. Now certainly ——

THE COURT: She grabbed the knife. What evidence is
there that she moved towards the entryway in an effort to use
that knife on your client?

MS. HOJJAT: Again, every single person has placed
Mr. Grimes' positioning at the entryway.

THE COURT: I got that. Tell me what evidence there
is that she —— there's evidence you can argue she put that
knife in her hand. Got it. What evidence is there that once
"she put that knife in her hand she became an aggressor and
used deadly force against your client? ‘That's what I want to
hear. Not that everybody says where everyoody is. Okay?
Because either way, somebody has to come towards somebody in

order for there to be deadly force. bBecause if you're seven

say that's deadly force.

is a reasonable inference. Your Honor said somebody has to

move towards somebody for there to be deadly force. We think

there's a reasonable inference that she moved towards him, We

think it's enougnh for a scintilla, that she moved towards him.

THE COURT: Tell me what evidence you have that you
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can arque, what 1nference, what evidence 1s there that the
jury can infer she moved towards him Wlth a knife in her hand
and it was exercising deadly force against your client?

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, she's at the counter and
then she's in the entryway. He's always in the entryway. I
mean, there's ——

THE COURT: Who testified that she's in the entryway
pesides her and her mother and they both said he dragged her
there. So, who other than her and her mother —— every gingle
person that's gotten up here, Hoffman, the detective today,
mother, Aneka, all of them said he took her there. Every
single person said he took her there.

MS. HOJJAT: And, Your Honor, those are responses Co
our argument, absolutely. And we're not saying they're
invalid responses to argumgnt. But our point is that we have
an argument, Your Honor. We have, béSed on the evidence, the
way that it is, it wouldn't be completely outside the realm —
it's not unreasonable, it's not completely unreasonable for a
juror to think maybe she walked towards him., And that's a
scintilla, Your Honor. If a juror could say you know what,
locking at that positioning, I think she walked towards him.
Then we've met our burden of scintilla.

THE COURT: She has to walk towards him with a knife
in her hand and she has to be using deadly force against him.

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, she has to be using deadly
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force against him for us to prevail in our self-defense
_argument, put not for us to reach a scintilla of self-defense
in a self-defense argument, For us tojprevail, absolutely.
There has tc be —

THE COURT: For you to even argue, you have to —
there has to be some evidence that she had the knife in her
hand and that she moved towards your client in an effort to, I
"don't know, guess stab him with it or do something with it.

MS. HOJJAT: It's our position that we have met that
burden. We have met the burden of scintilla based on the
forensic evidence that was testified to, based on the
positioning that was testified to, based on where the blood
spatter is in this case, it's our position we've met the
purdenn of scintilla. This is our theory of the case and we do
think it's fundamentally unfair and in violation of Mr.
Grimes' due process rights under the 14th Amendment if we're
not allowed to present our theory of the case.

J THE COURT: If you're not allowed to make up

something that isn't supported by the evidence?

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, we will be drawlng
inferences based on the evidence that was presented and we
will be careful not to go outside of drawing inferences based
on the evidence that was presented.

THE COURT: And I appreciate because you've been

answering all my questions, you've been doing a really gocd
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job, so I don't want you to think I'm — Dbecause you're doing
very, very good. But I think if you rewind the tape and

listen to yourself, you said, at one point you said it's not

unreasonable for the jury to think that maybe she was the one

that grabbed the knife and went towards him. That's a problem

I'm having. I think I've asked like ten times and I keep

getting the same response.

The problem is, the state of the record is the state
of the record. There has to be some evidence. There's no
evidence from anybody that's testified that she went towards
him in a manner — I mean, there has to be some evidence.
Somebody has to testify that she was the initial aggressor and
everything that makes up that. Yqu can't say his DNA wasn't
on the knife so she must have picked it up, went after him and
tried to stab him. That's ridiculcus.

MS. HOJJAT: And, Your Honor, I guess that's the part
we're disagreeing with. We don't think there has to be some
festimony. We.don't think somebcdy has to get up there and
say she walked towards him for us to be able to make that
inference to the jury. That would be like if there was a gun
and it had been fired and only one person's fingerprints were
on it. Nobody needs to get up there and say 1 saw him fire
the gun in order for the inference to be drawn thal this is
the person who fired the gun. We think that sometimes — we

think that in this case particularly when the burden is solely
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a scintilla of evidence, we think positioning, we think
forensics is enough to get us over the burden of scintilla.
We don't think there has to be a persoh who gets up there and
testifies for us to mske that burden.

TEE COURT: AlL right. Well, I've asked like ten
times and I haven't gotten anything, so I don;t think they
have anything. I've sat here and T know what the state of the
record is. I mean, I'm okay with everything up to her putting
that knife in her hand, but it's the taking the logical ieap
that there's some evidence that Supports. There's none., That
would be absolutely just making up a story. It's not even in
good — well, I'm not even quite sure you can tell me that's
in good faith.

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, we do believe that's what
happened, that she got the knife and —— from the positioning,
from — it's just not logical, Your Honor,

THE COURT: That she grabbed the knife —

MS. HOJJAT: For him to have walked five to seven
feet. Grabbed a knife that he didn't know was there. GCrabbed
her, dragged her five to seven feet back in the Space 0f —
what the testimony makes it sounds like is 15 to Z0 seconds.

M3. BOTELHO: But what they believe doesn't
necessarily equal —

MS, HOJJAT: To drag another human being that far in

15 to 3D seconds.
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THE COURT: Yeah, you can't just ignore the evidence.

MS. BOTELHO: I mean, what they kelicve —

‘THE COURT: what you believe and what may have
happened are not evidence and that's-a prchblem. Because every
proffer that you've made is you believe that it's reasonable
or maybe this can happen. Problem is is there has to be.some
evidence. I have literally strained myself over the last
couple of days because I knew you were going to bring up &

self defense argument. I'm trying to articulate how you would

‘do it and I always got stuck at that point.

M3, BOTELHO: And the problem is, Your Honor, we wént
over some of the self-defense instructions and they say things
like if a person attempts to kill ancother in self-defense, it
must appear that the danger was SO urgent and pressing — we
don't have —— |

THE COURT: There's none.

MS. BOTELHO: —— anyone saying that there was a
danger, that was urgent, that was pressing, that it was needed
to save somebody's life or to prevent them from receiving
great bodily harm, that the non—assailant did it in good
faith, that the defendaﬁt, you know, attacked the initial
aggressor, Aneka, allegedly in gocd faith. We don't have ——
when a person without voluntarily seeking, provoking, inviting
or willingly engaging in a difficulty of his [indiscernible]

is attacked by an assailant.

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
183

945




oo Llisbl

L.

Wit s e

PR

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

29

|

First of all, we have no evidence that she's an
assailant. We have no evidence that he was just sﬁanding
there, charming as can be, not voluntarily seeking or
provoking some kind of difficulty. He has the right to stand
his ground. We have no evidence of that. The use of a deadly
weapon is justifiable when it's a lawful defense of the person
and he believes he is in danger of death or great bodily
injury and there is imminent danger. There's no testimony of
that. |

The right to self—défense exists only as long as the
real or apparent threat and danger continues to exist. We
have no evidence of any danger, whether or not it continued,
whether or not it existed. The use of force against a person
is justified. Again, when there is imminent danger necessary
under the circumstances. What circumstances? We don't have
circumstances.

The problem with this particular case is it's
fundamentally unfair to the State. Basically, it's allowing
the defense to put forth a story that's not based on evideﬁce
or fact and that allows the defendant to circumvent having to
take the stand to put forth his defense without
cross—examination. And the problem with this is, if they're
allowed to give this story ——

THE COURT: Basically allows them to basically tell

the Jjury what the defendant would have said had he taken the
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F MS. BOTELHO: Exactly. And then, if they were to

iargue this particular story in closing, we would be objecting
that it's not supported by facts.and evidence and they should
||not be ailowed to argue it. You take that, away, they can't
argue — T mean, a scintilla or whatever piece of evidence
Ilthat they need to establish self-defense cannct be based on

inference puilt upon inference upon inference that then makes

a story.

THE COURT: I don't think, in all fairness, I don't
think you have an inference. Once you place her with the
xnife, there is not even an inference. T cannot think of any
logical inference that gels her going after him with the knife
in a deadly manner and him having no choice but to do whatever
it is he did. We don't know what that is, we Jjust know she
P ended up with 21 stab wounds .

J So you cannot get up and argue to the jury what he
Fmay have said had he taken the stand. And in all fairness, it
is extraordinarily difficult to assert a self-defense theory

if there isn't something from your client, either a statement

made to the police. I mean, l've had cases where statements
made to the police, but then —— well, that's a whole other
story about how that gets in or doesn't get in. Or the
defendant has to teke the stand.

I don't know how in the world you get those jury
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instructions if —— it's very, very difficult. There has to be

_something from the defendant, something, We don't have

anything. It's just a tough case. So that's the deal. I
mean, I tried to give —

THE DEFENDANT: So from this standpoint standiﬁg
here, I doﬁ't have any word? I don't have any say so from
here?

THE CCURT: For what?

THE DEFENDANT: To speak? I don't have any say s
from here, from this Court standing here?

MS. HQJJAT: No.

MR. HILLMAN: No. You get to decide if you testify.

THE COURT: You get to decide if you want to testify.
If you want to testify, you can say whatever you want.

' THR DEFENDANT: No. I'm saying from standing here
right now.

MS. HOJJAT: No.

THE COURT: What does that mean, from standing here
‘right now?

THE, DEFENDANT: 2&m I allowed to volce my opinicn from
this point from here?

MS. HOJJAT: No.

MR. HILLMAN: No.

THE COURT: About what?

THE DEFENDANT: Just am I allowed to?
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THE COURT: About what? About whether you want to

testify or not? You get to, you can ——

THE, DEFENDANT: Things that occurred and things that

‘are being said.

THF, COURT: What happened that day? Take the stand,
||take the opath ——
THE DEFENDANT: 1 was asking about here, right now,

’ as I'm standing here.

THE COURT: To tell me? TI'm not the trier of fact.

THE DEFENDANT:‘ T mean, as we were all speaking. I
was just saying am I allowed to gpeak —-

THE, COURT: No, that's why you have lawyers. The
only thing — I'11 tell_you, I think you pretty much realize
I'm not going to give any self-defense instructions. I
" thought it was only fair to tell your lawyers back in chambers

that they would be —
" MR. HILLMAN: We appreciate that.
THE COURT: T think it's only fair. I knew your
i attorneys wanted to raise a self-defense theory. I've been
" following the case intently, taking notepads of notes towards
a self-defense theory. 1 don't always_know that up front, but
“ towards a self-defense theory. It's not there. I told them

in all fairness it wasn't there. I told them that I thought

l maybe you would testify in order to put it there. 1 did not

kxnow you had the priors. Sometimes you have to weigh all that
| | UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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out. I did not know about your priors before then. 5o
there's no evidence, so I can tell you there's no evidence,
I'm not going to instruct the jury on self-defense. It will
go to the jury on what there 1s.

Tt doesn't mean the State doesn't have to prove their
case and the jury doesn't have tc hold them to each and every
element as alleged in the charging document. That's still a
fact. I;m.just not going to let the attorneys basically make
up a story. And if it's the truth, I'm not going to let them
tell it because it waén't testified to up there. Do you |
understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand that?

. THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: Okay. And I think that's probably why
your attorney came out here to discuss with you whether you
were going to testify or not. Okay? So it's up to you
because it's your life. 2nd again, T want to make sure ycu
understand this and I usually tell this to everybody no matter
what kind of case it is. This is your right and your right
alone. Regardless of what anybcdy in this room tells you to
do, it is your decision whether to testify. You can — I
mean, your attorneys can tell you don't testify, don't
testify, or the opposite, testify, testify. It is still your

decision what to do.
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Now, the decision should be made after consulting

with your attorneys. That's my opinion, However, you can
disagree with everything they say or agree with everything
they séy. At the end of the day, it is your right and your
right alone. Do you understandlthat? . |
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
I THE COURT: So you have to search your soul and
determine whether you're going to testify or not. Do you
" understand that?
J THE DFFENDANT: Yes.
I THE COURT: Okay. After hearing everything T said,
l'do you want to have more time to talk to your lawyers? 1'11
make everyone leave the courtroom and you can talk to your
lawyers privately. Do you want more tine?
7 THE DEFENDANT: NO.
r THE COURT: Okay. What are you going to do?
| VTHE DEFENDANT: I won't take the stand.
F : THE COURT: All right. And you understand I'm not
going to instruct the jury on self-defense?
“ : THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Ckay. Do you want the Carter
instruction?
MR. HILIMAN: NoO.
THE COURT: Okay. Then let's go back and finalize
the instructions.
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MR. BURNS: Just one quick thing, Your Honor, I want
to put on the record. Ms. Botelho has argued it. Just the
fact that if the defense is to proceed on this non—existentr
showing of this affirmative defense, the Névada Supreme
Court's been very clear that it's the State's burden to
disprove self-defense. And it effectively puts us in a
catch—22 position where we have really nothing to argue about
because there is no evidence. And if we're commenting on the
complete absence of evidence to the jury, then obviously,
we're going to draw a burden shifting objection from the '
defense,

alsc, if this kind of showing is sufficient for
self-defense in the future, then any case where there's victim
defendant proximity, where there's victim DNA on the weapbn,
which will be the case in every knife-type case, then there
would be this kind of — be automatically entitled to argue
self-defense. ‘We.just add those things to the record.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. [OJJAT: Your Honor has clearly already made yoﬁr
ruling, sc I would just respond to that and say that it's a
very different situation when the alleged perpetrator's DNA is
found nowhere on the weapon and that's what we think
distinguishes this case and that's why we think we have met
the burden of scintilla.

THE, COURT: All right. Do you want to come back and
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we'll —— hopefully, they'll all be done and we can finalize
and we can put them in the order you want?

(Court recessed at 3:30 p.m. until 4:29 p.m.)

(Outside the presence of the Jjury.)

THE COURT: The record will reflect this hearing is
taking place outside the presence of the jury panel. Mr,
Grimes is present with his attorneys. -The 3State is present as
ﬁell. |

We've taken an opportunity to settle all of the
instructions, fotmally settle them. Is the State familiar
with Court's proposed instructions 1 through 347

MS, BOTELHQ: Yes, we are, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Any objection to the Court giving any of
those instructions?

MS. BOTELHO: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Does the State wish to propose any
additional instructions?

MS. BOTELHO: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Is the defense familiar with
Court's proposed 1 through 347

MR. HILIMAN: Yes, Judge., I apologize. I'm sorry,
I'm a little bit behind the curve here.

THE COURT: That's ckay. I Jjust numbered them. 1
through 34, does defense have any objection?

MR. HILLMAN: There are two we'd like tc make a
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record bn.

THE COURT: Ckay. One of them is the reasonable
doubt instruction, I know that. Instruction Number 57 DG you
| want to start making a record on — it's the reasonable doubt

instruction. Go ahead.

MR. HILIMAN: Go ahead.
I MS. HOJJAT: And, Your Honor, on the reasonable doubt
instruction, Instruction Numier 5, what we had asked or was on
” line two Lo read, the defendant is presumed innocent. A
pericd after iﬁnocent and striking the languagé until'the
“ contrary is proved. We believe the fact that it's sayiﬁg
until the contrary is proved implies to the jury that it's an

inevitable conclusion that the contrary will be proved. We

pelieve that the rest of the instruction does thoroughly

I inform the jury that they —— 1if the State meets its burden of
! proving peyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did

" commit the crimes, then they are to find him guilty. But we
pelieve that the until the céntrary is proved language 15

| unduly suggestive to the jury.

THE COURT: The objection's noted and I indicated-I
“ was going to give the instruction as stated in number 5 based
upon the Nevaca Supreme‘Court's prior precedent and
[indiscernible] give this instruction exactly as stated. Any

cther objections?

MR. HILIMAN: We have two more and I'm looking for
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those instructicns, Judge. One of them has to do with
burglary.

THE COURT: O©h, I know, the burglary in posseésion.

MR. HILLMAN: Every person who commits —-

THE COURT: Obtaining possession afterwards.

MR. HILLMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: I'll help vou.

MR. HILIMAN: TIwenty-four. Our objection to number
24 is that the crime of burglary is either committed or

completed upon entry and the weapon in possession can occur

after entry. It seems to be logically at opposite ends of the

intent of the statute. And thét's our objection to number Z4.

MS. HOJJAT: And, Your Honor, coupled with the
objection in number 24, we did propose a defense inétruction,
proposed defense instruction number nire, which was if you
find that the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt
that Bennett Grimes‘entered the apartment with a weapon, you
qust find him not guilty of burglary with a deadly weapon in
viclation of a temporary protective order.

THE COURT: You can approach and that will be marked
as Court's Exhibit Number 6, Court's Exhibit Number 6. And
this was the instruction that wés proffered by the defense in
place of Number 54 that was rejected by the Court, but I wiil
make it part of the record. Does the State want to say

anything?
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MR. BURNS: Briefly, Your Honor. As to Number,
Insttuction Nurber 24, it's the State's view that the statute
intends essentially a separate offense that when there is a
firearm and it's brought into possession, il's a separate
element added to a burglary that there's not the — the
burglary still has to have the entry intent contemporaneocus,
but not necessarily the firearm. It does constitute a

separate cffense.
“ As to the defense's proffered instruction number
nine, it‘s';— |

THE COURT: They wanted me to take out — I mean, [T

believe the statute says ——

MR. BURNS: -—- an incorrect statement.

THE COURT: — regardless of how logical it is, the

“ statute indicates he can be charged with burglary and
possession of firearm — I'm sorry, with a deadly weapon, if
lhe obtains.the possession of the deadly weapon after he's

' inside the place, whatever structure he enters.

MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor, and I guess we would be
" asking Your Honor to find that statute unconstitutional as

it's wrilten because the offense of burglary is completed upon

entering a dwelling. Indeed, if he had entered the dwelling
with an intent to commit a crime and then committed no crime
within it, he would still be guilty of the burglary. However,

it seems the crime can be extended for the purposes of
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enhancing it, but i1s cut off if he chooses not to commit the
crime. Basically, it's —
THE COURT: It's not an enhancement, 1t's ancther —
MS. HOJJAT: The deadly weapon is an enhancement on

the burglary.

THE COURT: Burglary while in possession of a deadly

weapon. Is that what you're charging, burglary while in

possession of a deadly weapon?

Fi MR. BURNS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

“ MS. HOJJAT: BRasically, it's our position that the
statute is unconstitutional as wriﬁten.

I THE COURT: QCkay. Any other objections?

MR. HILIMAN: The only other one I was going to

I object to appears to have been pulled. So I have no other
I objections to the 34.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. HOJJAT: And then, Your Honor, we did have —

THE COURT: All right. Now, does the defense have

" any additional instructions they would like to propose at this

|

time?

MS. HOJJAT: I'm sorry, Your Honor. Yes, we did.

THE COURT: You know what? Why don't we start with

the self-defense ones because those will be easy.

MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: If you want, do you want to just staple
them all together? Are those ——

MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor. These are thém.

THE COURT: Do you mind if we just mark them as one
and they'll will be Court's Exhibit Number 7?

MS. HOJJAT: Not at all. We can certainly mark them
as one exhibit. If we could just meke a very quick record on
them.

THE COURT: Absoclutely. Go ahead.

MS. HOJJAT: If I may approach, Your Honor?

' THE COURT: Sure.

MS. HOJJAT: Thank you. So we're having marked as
Court's Exhibit 7, I believe. Your Honor, as previously
stated on the record, it was the defense's intention in this
case to argue self-defense. We already had a hearing on
whether the defense had met the scintilla of evidence that was
necessary in order to obtain that affirmative defense., Your
Honor ruled that it was —— we had not met the scintilla of
evidence. Obviously, we argued that we had met it.

What's been entered as Court's Exhibit 7 is the jury
instructions that had been agreed upon by the State, the
defense and the Court as the jury instructions that would have
been read to the jury had the defense been allowed to argue
self-defense, had the affirmative defense of self-defense been

allowed for the defense. And so it's our position that those
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jury instructions should be presented to the jury and read tO
the jury and we should be allowed to argue self-defense in
this case.

THE COURT: OCkay. And T think everyone agrees that
if T did instruct the jury on self-defense, they would be the
instructions from the Runyon case. And we actually worked on

-them, put they would be — if I did believe.self—defense was
appropriate to instruct the jury on, these instructions would
have been given.

MS, HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor.
“ THF COURT: So they'll be marked Court's Exhibit

Numoer 7. Any other instructions the defense would like to
propose?

MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor, there are a couple.
I'm going to go backwards a little bit here. Proposed defense
instruction number 12 is our Daniels instruction. We did
previously have ——

THE COURT: Your what?
" M2, HOJJAT: The Daniels instructién. The
instruction pursuant to State v. Daniels. We previously filed
a motion for failure to collect and preserve the fingerprints.

Your Honor heard the motion and denied it. However, we are

also — our first remedy that we requested was a dismissal.

J Our second one was a jury instruction. We are now submitting

a jury instruction to the Court that we are requesting
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pursuant to that motion.

THE COURT: Okay. That will be marked as Court's
Exhibit next in line, 8.

MS. HOJJAT: May 1 approach, Your Honoxr?

THE COURT: Yes. Does the State wish to say
anything?

MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor. You had previously
‘addressed this particular issue and my understanding of
Danlels is that they're entitled to some kind of Jury

instruction if there was bad faith or even gross negligence.

A ———
S ————

However, this particular case there was no failure to gather

l and certainly, the evidence has been available to the defense

I

| not giving this instruction, but it will be made part of the

to test as previous records have already indicated.

“THE COURT: Okay. So that would be -- the Court is

record. Any other instructions that you would like to
propose’?

MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your HOnor. There were arcouple
more. Proposed defense instruction one was simply a
presumption of innocence and reasohable doubt instructicn
pursuant to Bleek V. State. If I may approach?

THE COURT: That will be marked as Court's Exhibit
Number 9. Says every person charged with a commission of a
crime shall be presumed innocent. This was apparently a

different -— well, why did you want me £o give this?
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MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, we just —— that's the
presumption of innocence instruction that we are requesting

the Court to give. We think that the other instruction kind

Qf buries the presumption.of innocence and doesn't make it

” clear. It's a very long instruction. 'Ey_the time you get to
the end of it, you kind of forget that there's a presumption

“ of innocence. So we wanted a short statement of that. We

Iwere asking for that to be given.

F THE COURT: Okay. Does the State wish to respond?

| MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor. The State's position

r is that this particular instruction is already covered by the

reascnable doubt instruction, which, according to the Nevada

P Supreme Court is_all that is allcwed to be given as far as‘the

iissue of reasonable doubt.

P THE COURT: Okay. This instruction will be rejected.

" and will be marked as Court's Exhibit Number 9. Any other

ones?

“ - MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor. Proposed defense

instruction number five, which was basically that to support a

conviction for attempt murder with a deadly weapon, the — and

I put the District Attorney, but I guess I'11l amend that to

say the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.

Grimes had the specific intent to kill Rneka Grimes and that
he used a deadly weapon.

THE COURT: Does the State wish to respond?
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1 MS. BOTELHO: Your Honor, we indicated that we

5 |l pelieve this to be an incomplete instruction and also

auducL
[ @3]

repetitive, as it is already covered by other instructions.

[ —

4 || There are lots of instructions right now regarding the attempt
5 || murder charge and also specifically dealing with the elements
& lof specific intent and also the deadly weapon. And they were
7 also given their Crawford instruction, the reverse Or the-

|

9 THE COURT: All right. And I made a determination

negatively worded version.

10 “ that the Jury had been accurately instrﬁcted on ﬁhe attempt

11 || murder. This will be the Court's Exhibit next in line, Number
12 I 10. Any other instructions the defense would like to

13 IpropoSed?

14 MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor. Proposed defense

15 iinstruction number six was — it's language that we've taken
g 16 || from Hoimes v. State where the Nevada Supreme Court is citing
17 " rRandolph v. State, another Nevada Supreme Court case. In

18 || those cases, the Nevada Sucreme Court discusses the fact that

j 19 I the reasonable doubt standard requires the jury to reach a

20 || subjective state of near certitude on the facts in issue. We
21 W were asking for an instruction so saying to the jury.

22 THE COURT: Randolph, the same case that they

23 sanctioﬁed the District Attorneys off for guantifying —— the

24 || District Attcrney's Office for trying to quantify — here it

E ' 25 ig. TIt's the same case. The DA in that case was sanctioned

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
' 200

962

R IT FIRTT 1 T



kgt g ity

abaals L

Ll

w N

RIS

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

29

ri

rl

——
—

without even a hearing because he attempted to quantify the
reasonable standard. That case?

MS. HOJJAT: In that case, Your Honor, the Nevada
Supreme Court did hold that reasonable — to reach —— place a
reasonable doubt the jury required —— the Jury must reach a
subjective state of near certitude, which i1s why we're
recording the language directly out of that case, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I Jjust think it's interesting it came
from that case. Isn't that the case, the Randolph case? 1
don't want Lo say the D.A.'s name becéuse he gets mad when
people bring it up.

MR. BURNS: I don't know.

THE COURT: I rejected this instruction for reasons
stated previously, that the reasonable doubt standard has been
given in the format that the Supreme Court has indicated we're
Supposed to give it. Therefore, this one was rejected for
+hat reason. It will be marked as Court's Exhibit Number 11.
Any other instructions?

MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor, we do have one final
instruction, which was proposed defense instruction number
seven, that if their evidence allows two reascnable
interpretations, one of which points to innocence, the other
points to quilt, thé jury must adopt the interpretation that
—— must adoot the interpretation that points to his innocence

and reject the interpretation that points to quilt. That is
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from Crane versus State, which ig a Nevada Supreme Court case.

THE COURT: Any response?

MR. BURNS: Your Honor, the Nevada Supreme Court's
been very clear that no kind of variation or other
[indiscernible] can be put on the reascnable doubt
instruction. I think this is pretty clearly a thinly veiled
attempt to recast part of +he reascnable doubt instruction.
So in that case really not pefmitted.

) MS. BOJJAT: Your Honor, if 1 can just respond to
that. |

i THF, COURT: Sure.
|

MS. HOJJAT: We think this instruction goes to the

Ilpresumption of innocence. The point is if there’s two

perfectly reasonable interpretations of the evidence, the
presurption of innocence requires the jury to presune the
defendant is-innocent. S0 this is not an attempt to describe
or quantify reasonable doubt. Instead, it is going to the
presumption of innocence.

THE COURT: Okay. And this instruction will ke
rejected and will be marked Court's Exhibit next in line,
Number 12. Any other instructions that the defense would like
Lo propose?

MS. HOJJAT: No, Your Honor. Thank you.

THE COURT: Is the State familiar with the wverdict

form?
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MS. ROTELHO: Yes, we are, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Do you have & Ccopy of it?
MS. BOTELHO: I can grab it.

THE COURT: Do you mind?

MS, BOTELHO: No.

THE COURT: Thanks. Do you want a COPY of the jury

instructions, Mr. Grimes?

MR. HILLMAﬁ: 1 gave him my COpY.

THE COURT: Okay. While we're waiting for the DA,
Mr. Grimés, T just want to nake suﬁe you understand I know
you're not going to testify and your attorney's asked me not

12 || to give that instruction. Do you understand that?

13 THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

14 THE, COURT: Remember when we were talking earlier I

15 |l said if you don’t testify, I read to you the instruction T

would give to the jury. I said I would only give it if your

17 || attorney requested that T give it. They requested that I not

18 || give it. Ckay? SO it's not in there. Okay? But the

19 || District Attorney understands they're not permitted to comment

20 |t on your right to remain silent. Ckay?

21 THE DFEFENDANT: Yeah.

22 THE COURT: Did you do them all?

23 M3, HOJJAT: I'm sorry?

24 THE COURT: Did you make a record on all of them?

25 MS. HOJJAT: All of the ones +hat we've submitted to
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Your Honor, ves.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. HOJJAT: Other than the self-defense ones, which
we Jjust submitted as one packet.

THE COURT: Ckay. ©h, that's why it seems like ~—
okay. Is the State familiar with the verdict form?

MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: 1Is the defense familiar with the verdict
form?

MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Any-objection by the State?

MS. BOTELHO: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Any objection by the defense?

MS. HOJJAT: No, Your Honor.

THER COURT: All right. The verdict form will be
lodged with the clerk and the jury has been instructed to
refurn Monday morning at 10:3C at which time State will have
the right —— you have still not rested in front of the jury.
gtate will rest their case; the defense, obvicusly, will rest
their case. They will be instructed and cleosing and then
they'll be excused to deliberate.

Anything else?

MR. HILIMEN: No, Judge.

MS. BOTELHO: Wo, Judge.

THE COURT: OCkay. So I can throw these away and all
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Il my notes? These were yours. I'm just going to do it.

MS. HOJJAT: Sorry, I got confused. 1 thought those

were the exhibits.

THE COURT: WNo, I get nervous to throw away my notes.

T want to make sure we're done. Monday morning, 10:30.

(Court recessed for the evening at 4:47 p.m.)
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TAS VEGAS, NEVADA, MONDAY, OCTOBER 15, 2012, 10:41 A.M.
k ok %k kK %

| (In the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: Do the parties stipulate to the presence
of the jury panel?

MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor.

MR, HILIMAN: Yes, Judge.

THE COURT: Does the State have any additional
witnesses that they intend to call at this time?

MS. BOTELHO: No, Your Honor. At this point the
State rests.

THE COURT: Okay- The State rests. The defense?

MS. HOJJAT: Your Honer, the defense rests.

THE, COURT: Okay. At this time, Jadies and
gentlemen, you have heard all of the evidence that will be
infroduced at the time of the trial in this matter. 7You have
been provided with the written jury instructions when you came
in. Each of you has a Copy. You'll be permitted to take
those with you‘when you go back to deliberate upon your
verdict. BRefore the attorneys do address you in their closing
argument, T'm required by law to read the instructions to you.

(Jury instructions read — not transcribed)_.
THE, COURT: The State of Nevada may open and close

the arguments.

MR. BURNS: Thank you, Your Honor.
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CLOSING ARGUMENT

MR. BURNS: . The evidence has shown that on July 22nd,
2011 the defendant{ Bénnett Crimes, was experiencing two
different emotions.: The first is the emotion of desperation,
that he was completely desperate, at a total sense of loss.
The other 1is +hat he had a sense of entitlement, that he
deserved something, that he owed something.

Now, the sense of desperation he had was because the
woman he had been with for ten years, Lo whom he had been
married for seven yeafs, had ended their relationship
permanently and forever. You heard Aneka Newman get up there
and testify that she wanted "him out of my life forever."™ She
wanted him gone, she wanted him out of her life forever.
aneka was —— had her family, she had her -job, her apartment.

She had just bought a new car. She was turning her gaze

towards a new future and in that new future there was no place

for that man, the defendant, Bennett Grimes.

He knew that alsc. He clearly knew that and he knew
she didn't even want him around her. He was not to be around
ner. So finding that out filled him with a sense of total
desperation. You've heard Stephanie's 9-1-1 call, you've
neard Aneka's 9-1-1 call and you can hear the defendant's
voice. It's a sense of total loss, total desperation, total
anxiety. |

But that's not the only emotion he was feeling on
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July 22nd, 2011. He was alsc feeling 1ike he was entitled to
sométhing, like he was owed something by Aneka. He was owed
that she — he deserved to be taken back by her. He had gone
out, he had gotten‘this job. He deserved something from her.
He also thought that he deserved té 1urk arocund and hide iﬁ.
+he shadows outside her apartment on that evening, waiting for
Stephanie and Aneka to come home. He felt like he deserved
when they actually got home to burst'his way into thal house,
to batter his way through the door against the combined
resistance of Aneka énd Stephanie, '

Once inside the house, he felt like he deserved O
block the door, to stand there and make sure that no one left
until he got what he wanted. He also felt like once —— after
they had told him ten plus times that he had to leave, after
you heard Stephanie telling him go outside, Bennett, he felt
1ike he deserved tO stéy there. Not only that, he felt like '
he deserved to not have the police called. And when he found
out that the police were called, what was the testimony you
heard from Stephanie. He told Stephanie and Aneka that they
weﬁe scandalous. They were scandalous for calling 9-1-1 and
trying to have him removed from the house.

He also felt —— once it became clear that the police
were going to come and remove him from the house, that he was
probably going to go to jail that night, he felt like — the

sense of desperation was enhanced and he felt like he deserved
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something else. He felt like he deserved to ruin things for
Aneka, to pick up a knife and to try and murdex.her. And
that's exactly what he did. But for the heroics of Officer
Bobby Hoffman, that's exactly what he would have done. It's
what he felt entitled to do because she wouldn't take him
back. And that's the state of the evidence. Don't make any
mistake that Aneka is the one who he almost murdered and is
the victim in this case.

Now, the point of this first closing arqument is to
talk about the elements of the offenses. You have Count One,
“ attempt murder; Count Two, the burglary, and then Count Three;
the battery offénse. I'm going to go through those offenses,
talk about their specific legal elements and talk aboul the
evidence you've heard over the last three days last week. And
we'll talk about how those facts fit into the elements and how

Jthey demonstrate by procf beyond a reasonable doubt that that

——r

man attempted to murder Aneka Newman with a deadly weapon,
Flthat ne committed the battery offense alleged in Count Three
and that he also committed a burglary while in possession of a

'Ideadly weapon.

Now, in every criminal case the State has two larger,

general burdens. The first is to show that a crime was
“ committed. The second is to show that the defendant committed

the crime. Now, the second element in this case, it's not

difficult. TIt's a guestion of —— that's the element we
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usuallf refer to as identify. There's no question who was the
person stabbing Aneka 21 times. There's no aiternate Suspect
or any kind of theory like that. It's the defendant,'Bennett
Crimes. Just a question of running the facts through the
legal elements of the crimes the State of Nevada has charged
and coming tc the conclusion that that evidence has shown that
he committed those crimes by proof beyond a reasonable doubt.
Let's talk first about Count One, attempted murder
with a deadly weapon in viclation of a temporary protective

order. And you've heard some, throughout the trial, abdut TPO

“ and you'lllhear about it. It's in all the offenses, but we're

not going to talk about it much because it's stipulated

| between the parties there was a valid temporary protective

order in place and it was viclated.
Attempted murder, there are two essential elements,

performance of acts that tend, but fail to kill a human being.

P and in this case, .stabbing someone 21 times, that's conduch

|

that tends‘to kill someone, but it failed in this case because

lthe defendant's effort to kill Aneka was interrupted by

Officer Hoffman.

Second aspect is the mental state element. You have
to find by proof beyond a reascnable doubt that the defendant
intended_to kill Anecka when he was stabbing her 21 times. And
we'll talk about how you prove that, how you determine that

from the evidence and then we'll talk about the gpecific
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evidence. But you have to prove both of those elements that
the defendant had the specific intent to murder Aneka.
Inﬁention to kill. You have an instructioh on this,
I believe it's Instruction 14. It may be ascertained or
deduced'froﬁ all the facts and circumstances. We ddn‘t need
some mind reader to go into Bennett Grimes' mind and tell us
what he was thinking at the time he stabbed Ancka 21 times.
vou look at the facts, you look at the circumstances, you look
at the testimony and you infer from that what his intenticn

Was.,

You can also infer that intention of the use of a

‘weapon calculated to produce death and the manner of the

weapon's use. So the fact that a deadly weapon -— and T'1L
talk more'about the definition of a deadly weapon —— was used
in this case. And the manner, and we'll talk about the
manner that was used.

The most important fact is that the defendant in
ascertaining his intent, he stabbed Aneks 21 times. You've
seen that evidence. Stabs her all over her body. She's
literally riddled in stab wounds. In all, 21 stab wounds all
over her body. And the State of Nevada submits to you that
you don't stab your wife in the face, you don't stab her in
the neck, you don't stab her in the head three times and you
don't stab her in the back unless you intend to kill her. And

that evidence is the only evidence you even need in this case
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to convict him of attempted murder.

You can also look at the weapon and the use of the
weapon. If's a common steak knife, Prcbably all have one
like this in your home. Under the circumstances that it was
used,'you.can infer that his choice of this weapon and the way
that he used it, that hé had the specific intent to kill
aneka. You loock at the weapon, the manner of its use 1is
ancther factor you can look at. You lock at that blade and

that blade is warped from being plunged into Aneka repeatedly.

" That shows his intention, it shows the amount of force he was

putting into those stab wounds and it shows exactly what he

Ilwanted to do to.Aneka.

Also, you look at the defendant's hand. Now, you can

J 1oock at that cut and you can see that by repeatedly stabbing

her one, two, three, four, five — 21 times, that his hand

slipped. That just shows you the amount of force he was

Iputting into it, the amount of strength.he was using.

Bobby Hoffman testified about how the defendant was
holding that knife and he used this plastic picnic knife to
show you that he was holding it like this. That lines up
exactly with the defendant's index finger and that cut. You
don't need an expert witness, you don't need a lawyer to tell
you that what the defendant did was while he was stabbing her
21 times so vigorously, SO angrily, that his hand slipped and

he cut his finger. That's cother evidence you can show; the
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fact that he would cut himself while stabbing her 21 times and
keep trying to stab her is evidence that he intended to kill
her. And the only thing that stopped him was Officer Hoffman.
So the manner of the weapon's use 1s a critical factor showlng
his'intent to murder Aneka. | 7

also, you can lock at the types of wounds that the
defendant did.inflict and you can infer his intent from that.
You had Dr. Kuhls come in here and testify. She was the
doctor who treated him — I'm S0rry, treated Aneka. And she
testified that a particular stab wound in the neck area, that
it came very close and nicked a blood vessel branch of the
subclavian artery. That injury was bleeding actively. And
that kind foinjury, she said, "Brings a risk of bleeding to
death and large internal hematoma.™

So, based on that type of injury — and you remember,
she testified that doing a surgery to close that ——
fortunately, the active bleeding stopped, but doing the type
of surgery to repair that would have to be very deep, you'd
have to go under all this muscle and that's why they would
prefer to o the radiography type of treatment. That Jjust
shows you that the defendant was Stabbing her ag hard as he
could and he was stabbing — getting that knife as deep as he
could into her.

Also, the chest wounds. Dr. Kuhls testified about

the chest wounds, the stab that the defendant inflicted on
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aneka's chest, that it was of the breastpbone, it was near the
neart and the blood vessels that are underneath the
breastbone. and she testified that that injury is
rpotentially very lethal injuries,” those stab wounds to the
chest. So that's more evidence of his intent,lthat he's
stabbing her all over her body, but he's stabbing her in
potentially vital, critical areas.
Now, one element that you nave in al of the offenses

is — 1n all the Counts 1s deadly weapon.. and the law defines

deadly weapon 1in oOne or two ways. And.you have a jury

instruction on this. ANy instrument which, if used in the

-ordinary manner contemplated by its design and construction,

will or is likely To cause substantial bodily harm or death.
and any weapon, device used under the circumstances in which

it is used, attempted to be used is readily capable of causing

-substantial'bodily harm or death. Although it's just a

mundane, everyday steak knife, that is a deadly weapon the way
he was using it, the injuries he was inflicting on her and the
way he was stabbing her.

There's no question it's a deadly weapon under the
circumstances he used it. That's an element you need to find,
put it's an easy element 1O find based on the way he used the
wnife and the all the testlmony you've heard from the
witnesses., And you can See further, you know it's a deadly

weapon because 1t was able to do this.
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Now, temporary protective order, talked about this
very briefly. It's stipulated between the parties. It's not
something that you need to spend a ot of time on. The
defendant should not have been near Aneka.

. Count Three is a very long, has a very long title,
put it's actually more simple than it locks. Tt's battery
with the use of a deadly weapon constituting domestic violence
resulting in substantial bodily harm in violation of temporary
protective order. WNow, we'll just Dbreak it down element by
element. It's actually pretty simple when you'break it down.
Tt's just a mouthful. |

First, let's look at battery and domestic vioclence.
Those are two elements that you have to find in order to
convict the defendant of Count Three. First is battery. Any
willful and unlawful use of force cor violence upon the person
of ancther. There's no cquestion, stabbing someone 21 times
constitutes a battery. Domestic vioclence, it's defined when
an act is committed upon a person —- the battery is committed
upon a person, former spouse, Or any other person to whom he
is felated by blood or marriage. You heard Aneka testify that
shea was married to the defendant, that she finally divorced
him April of this year. So there was this spousal
relaticnship that makes the pattery inflicted on her domestic
ﬁiolence. Battery, domestic viclence, very easy for you to

find based on the evidence.
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Substantial bodily harm. Now, this.is another
element you have to find. And there are four different ways
you can find this. State submits that each way that you could
find it has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt based on the
evidence. - Look at the first. Creates a substantial risk of
death, that the injury had to havé created a substantial risk
of death. I just refer you again to Dr. Kuhls' testimony that
these injuries were potentially very'lethal and that,they
could have caused Aneka to die. He stabs her in the neck, he
stabs her in the face, he stabs her in the heéd, he stabs her
in the chest and the back. Now clearly, that created a
substantial risk of death.

Next, serious or vermanent disfigurement. You saw
Aneka get off the witness stand. She came up to you and she
showed you her scars. You know, she's cbvicusly a very lovely
PEerson, " she's not scmeone you'd describe as disfigured. But
in this case, it meets the elements Decause you've seen the
disfigurement on her arms, particularly what appear LO be
these defensive wounds from being stabbed repeatedly by the
defendant on her arm. You've seen Lhe scars on her neck and
on her chest. She's covered in scars and those will always be
with her. Sc that second‘element shows substantial bodily
harm,

The third is protracted loss or impairment of the

function of any bodily member Or organ. This is pretty simple
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also because you'll remember, Aneka telling you about her
ordeal after she was stabbed. She said that she couldn't use
ner left arm. She had to rehabilitate it. In the aftermath
of the stabbing, she could not use it, 5he could not move 1t.
'She was eventually able to regain movement. On top of that,
she told you that she couldn't — after the stabbing she
couldn't use her thurb, that she actually had to go and
undergo a surgery that repaired and gave her pack the use of
her thumb. That's protracted loss of a bodily member., 50
that;s substantial bodily harm. That's proﬁed beyond a
reasonable doubt.

And finally, prolonged physical pain. lLasted longer
than the pain immediately resulting from the wrongful act.
You'll remembeﬁ that Anecka testified.how much pain she was in.
Also, Dr. Kuhls testified to her complaining about the pain
frém the stab wounds. BAneka testified that she was on pain
killers for some amount of time, some months after this
incident. Ciliearly, there's protracted physical pain based on
what the defendant did to Aneka. |

So the substantial bodily harm element has béen
proved in sO many ways. It's been proved by proof beyond a
reasonable doubt. You've heard the doctor's testimeony, you've
heard Ancka's téstimony and you'‘ve also heard Stephanie
provide some testimony about it.

Now, let's go to Count Two, it's burglary. There are
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three elements to burglary. First is thal there's & house Or
structure; second is that the defendant enters it; third is
that the defendant has the intent to commit an assault,
pattery or a felony when he enters the house or structure. I[He
has to have that intent at the time he énters.

There's the structure; It's the apartment 173, West
Desert Inn Road. You heard lots of testimony that the
defendant entered it, that he was hiding out there, that he
batteréd his way into the house and forced his way in. Once
he'was in there, he stabbed Aheka. Both Stephanie and Aneka
testified that he busted his way in there.

Now, the specific intent element of burglary is like
the specific intent element of attempted murder. It can be
inferred from the circumstances. And you loock at all the
different circumstances showing what the defendant intended to
do. First, that he's lurking outside. He's ready. He
essentially lays in wait and then ambushes them and forces his
way-into the house. That's one circumstance you can look at.

He pushes his way in, he Dbatters his way into the
house against their will. Stephanie testified that she was
pushed back by the amount of force he applied To get into the
house. Also, once he's in there, he doesn't let anybody
leave. So you know what his intent is. You can infer from
the evidence that he's not leaving until he gets what he

wants., And if he doesn't get what he wants, he's golng to

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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perpetrate some violence against somecne, specifically Aneka.
And that's exactly what he did.‘ Now, that he might have the
hope thét she takes him back or something like that deesn't
mean he didn't commit a burglary because he had the intent to
comuit viclence. He didn't get what he wanﬁed when he went in
there.

Finally, vou can infer from the fact that he stabs
Aneka 21 times that he went in there with that intent, to do
something physical to commit viclence against Aneka or anybody
else. |

Now, there's a fourth element to burglary in this
case, it's that the defendant came into possession of a deadly
weapon while he was —— while the burglary was going on. Now,
all you need to find —— you.don't need to find that he had the
weapon.at the time he entered, right at the time he entered.
Tt's sufficient, if he commits a burglary and scmetime
ﬁhereafter he comes into possessicn of the deadiy weapon. SO
he gains possession of any firearm or deadly weapon at any
time during the commission of the crime, at any time hefore
leaving the structure or upon leaving the structure. You
know, he grabbed that knife in the middle of everything and
long before — you know, he only left the structure after the
police took him. So he came into possession of that deadly
weapon, that steak knife which we've talked about is a deadly

weapon, during the commission of a burglary. The proof is
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overwhelming of that.

Now, I want to talk a little bit about your verdict
form, what it's going to lock like and what the State submits
you should be -— how you should fill it out. There's page one
of the verdict form. Let's look at Count One, attempt murder
with use of a deadly weapon. You have three choices. The
evidence in this case is overwhelming, so I'1l just submit
that you're not even going tc consider a not guilty verdict.
and then you have two options. The difference between those
two options is one of them has a'deadly weapon, one does not.
Now, the evidence is very clear that the defendant used a
deadly weaporl, that steék knife; the way he used it. You find
it's a deadly weapon, so0 at that pointrreally the only verdict
pased on the evidence, only reasonable verdict would be guilty
of attempt murder with the use of a deadly weapon in violation
of a temporary protective order.

Count Two is the burglary count. Pretty similar
here. <You've got two options. Obviously, it's the State's
view you're not going to take -— you're not going to choose
not gﬁilty. You have one option with a deadly weapon and one
option without. Cleafly, he came into possessicon of a deadly
weapon. He picked it up, he stabbed Ancka 21 times, Aneka
testified to it. Officer Hoffman testified to it. Stephanie
testified to it. The evidence is overwhelming.

lLet's look at the second page of your verdict form,

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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Count Three. This one looks a little crazy. You've got a
‘punch of options here and we'll talk about it., It's more
simple than it looks, but we'll just talk more specifically
apout it. There are a number of elements. There's battery,
domestic violence, deadly weapon, substantial bodily harm and
TPO. Don't worry about TPO. All your options except for a
not guilty verdict are going to have a TPO.

Now, the first option has all of those. [t has the
|battery, domestic violence, substantial bodily harm, deadly
weapon. Second option drops but the‘deadly weapcon, but keeps
the substantial bodily harm. Third option does the oppésite,
| arops substantial bodily harm, keeps in deadly weapon. Fourth
option drops substantial bodily harmjand drops deadly weapon.

Now, based on the evidence, the only reasonable
verdict is going to be the number one option, that there was a

battery, that they were married, it cohstituted domestic

violence, that the knife was used so there was a deadly weapon

and that .all of this —- all of these substantial bodily harm

was inflicted on Rneka. So really, although vou have a lot of
options, State submits that you're going to pick the first

option because it has all of those elements. Evidence of each

elenent is overwhelming.

The defendant's not the victim in this case. He's

guilty of Counts Cne through Three. I ask you to find him as

such. Thank you.
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THE COURT: Thank you. The defense may address the
jury in their closing argumenf.

MR. HILLMAN: Judge, do you mind if T grab the
podium?

THE COURT: Not at all.

MR. HILLMAN: And may I turn off the monitor for this
riportion? |
THE COURT: Sure.
{ DEFFNSE CLOSTNG ARGUMENT

MR. HTLLMAN: Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. In
this particular hearing, you folké are the people who are

going to decide the facts in this case. You'll decide what

—

nappened on that day. You'll decide if the State has proven

Jbeyond a reasonable doubt each and every element of the crimes

—

that have been alleged against Bennett Grimes.
i Mr. Burns stood up and told you that Bennett Grimes

was desperate when he went there on July 22nd. I don't kKnow

S ——————

I‘that. But his family was breaking up, he was concerned. And

if that's exactly what it sounded like. It may sound like

you can hear that on the 9-1-1 call. You can hear that in the

testimony that was given by Ancka Grimes, Aneka Newman and

Stephanie Newman as well.
l let's talk for a few minutes and I'm not going to put

up any pictures of any jury instructions and read them to you.

You have the jury instructions. You'll be able to read them

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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yourselves. Let's talk a little bit about the burglary.
Burglary means entry into the structure with the
intent to commit one of.those acts as described in the jury
instruction. What evidence do we have of that intent? You
can hear Bennett in the 9-1-1 tape. .YOU can hear what he had
to say. He was upset.. He was sad. He was not happy with the
way things were. You hearc what aneka said. Aneka saic that
Bennett told her that he loved her, that he wanted her back.
Stephanie said the same thing. He entered that apartment with
no knife, with no gun, with no wéapon, with no intent to do

anything other than to try and get Aneka back. He had

_obtained a new Job and he hoped that would smooth over the

problems that they had and this could be over with.
He was in there quite a while. You can hear it in
the 9-1-1 call. Aneka walked over, Opensd up the sliding

glass door. Stephanie went out while all this was going on

and talked to the police officers. There was no indication

that anything was going to bad at that point in time. He did

not enter that apartment with the intént to do anything other
than te try and get Aneka back.

Now, let's go on TO the attempt murder. The State
+alked an awful lot about the 21 stab wounds. And there's no
doubt that there were 21 stab wounds. But if he intended to
kill her and stabbed her 21 times, how did that not happen?

How did she not die? You see what he looks like, He's a fit

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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looking voung man. Twenty-one times? State says that Cfficer
Hoffman burst in, tackled him cff of her, took the knife away.
That's what Officer Hoffman said. Officer Tavarez says that
when shé went in Officer Hoffman was saying where's the knife,
where's the knife. He didn't know where the knife was.
Stephanie Newman said that Officer Hoffman didn't tackle
anybody, that he used his weapon and intimidation to stop
whatever was going on on the floor by the entryway to that
apartment.

So we've got several different facts. We've got
ceveral different stories aboul what was going on in there,

Ts that unusual? Probably not. When émotions get high, when
the adrenaline starts to go, everybody sees things a little
pit different. If you watch football, if you watch baseball,
if you watch basketball, they have slow motion replays to show
what the referees didn't see, what everybody else thinks they
saw and people argue about it and argue about it.

Officer Hoffman, in his deomestic violence report,
indicated that Bennett Grimes was cut on his left hand, even
though it was his right. The AMR, the medic Robison, said
that it was his right ring finger. She said that she filled
this out just a few minutes after if happened. But
perceptions can vary, things can be different.

Excuse me for a minute. I wonder if I could have —

approach and get those.

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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THE COURT: Sure.

MR. HILLMAN: Thank you very much. One thing that's
pretty consistent, though, ig that Bennett Grimes spent & lot
of time by the entry, that Aneka spent a lot of time by the
kitchen counter, minutes, Several minutes that you can hear on
the 9-1-1 call, that you can hear.from.the tesﬁimony of
Stephanie Newman and aneka Newman. You can hear the
conversation going on in the background,iﬁ the 9-1-1 call.
Bennett's over here, Aneka 1s OVer nere in front of the
counter.,

Aneka says that Bennett left the entry in five to
seven feet, grabbed.her, took her back five to seven feet and
then commenced to stab her. Aneka did not say she was
fighting back. Ancka said she was trying to get away, which
pakes sense. Stephanie said she went over and tried to pull
aneka off of Bennett, away From Bennett. Anybody who's seen a
fight, anybody who's been in a fight knows that if you pull
one combatant off the other, the person who's getting pulled
away is pretty much helpless to the other combatant. Lf two
guys are fighting and someone grabs one of the guys and pulls
him off, that guy's going to get punched. The guy that's
pulled off is going to get punched,

Officer Hoffman said that when he entered Aneka was
standing here, Stephanie was standing directly behind her and

Bennett was standing —-

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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(Cell phone interruption)

MR, DILIMAN: You won't get in as much trouble for
that as I would. AndlBennett was standing here. At the
preliminaty hearing, Officer Hoffman tegtified that Bennetl
nad Ancka in a headlock and was punching ﬁer in the head. At

trial, Officer Hoffman said,Bennett'had,Aneka in a headlock

and was stabbing her in what appeared to be the upper left

chest. While these wounds may be consistent with what the
gtate has alleged, they may Just as well be- consistent with
two people struggling cover é Weapon.

We talk about 21 stab wounds. There is no medical
evidence to indicate that that ¥nife was ever plunged
completely inﬁo her body. None of the stab wounds are that
deep. 1f you lock at the pictures, they look like scrapes and
cuts and pokes that are also consistent with two pecple
struggling over the weapon. And Aneka said she did strugglé
over that weapon. She caid she was trying to get away.

and the State talks about defensive wounds. Anybody
rememoer whem,their brother was going to hit them with a
wiffle ball bat? How did you block it? Did you block it like
this, Bruce Lee style? Or do you put your hands up, COver
your face like this? What's the natural reacticn? And yet,
if you lock at the pictures, there are no wounds on the hands.

There are no wounds on the fingers. There's no wounds te her
thumb.

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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1 The State needs to prove beyond a reasonable doubst i

5 || that Bennett Grimes entered the building with the intent to do

"
O AU TRER e

3 || something. There was no intent. They need To prove that he

4 || intended to kill Aneka. There's no intent to kill Aneka here. %%

e

5 || And there's some other questions that still remain. i
6 There's the DNA evidence. There's DNA on that knife. i
7 || The DNA belongs to Aneka anc an unknown male. What kind of a
8 palette do we nave for that knife? What kind of a_palette, as
9 || if we're painting a picture, do we have Ior the DNA to stick
10 F there? We have a freshly-washed knife in the dish drainer
11 | around the corner from where Bennett was standing. Julie
12 || Marschner said well, this knife isn't rough enough to hold any
13 DNA and yet, it had Aneka's, which may have come from the

14 W plood. I think that's what the testimony was. And another

15 || male that is not Bennett Grimes. It's not rough encugh to

16 nold Bennett Grimes' DNA and yet, the Government says Bennett

17 | crimes held that knife long encugh and hard enough to stab

18 || Aneka 21 tdimes. If you're going to leave DNA, you're going to
19 h leave DNA.then. and then there's the matter of fingerprints
20 J on the knife. We don't know who they belong to. We don't

; 21 iknow who they belong To.

22 ladies and gentlemen, State has not met their burden
23 ' in this case. Bennett Grimes did not enter that apartment
24 || with any intent other than to Try and talk his wife. into

iy 25 l letting him come back. He shouldn't have been there. He

- ‘ UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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shouldn't have gone back. But he didn'f have any intent.
since he had no intent whén he entered the‘apartment, doesn't
natter if he picked up the knife later on because there's no
burglary. He did not attempﬁ Lo kill Aneka Grimes. He did
not. have the specific intent to kill anybody here. No DNA
from Benneﬁt Grimes on the knife, fingerprints that belonged

o who knows. Who knows? Find Bennett Grimes not guilty is

iwhat we're asking. Thank you.

THE COURT: The State can address the jury in their

rebuttal. |
STATE'S REBUTTAL CLOSING ARGUMENT

MS. BOTELHO: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, Mr.
Hillman's right. The State does have the burden of proving to
each of you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant
committed each and every element of each of the charges'that
we have brought against him. But I'll tell you right now that

i+ is a burden that the State, Mr. Rurns and myself, it's a

' hurden that we welcome. and I remind you that it is a burden

that is met in courtrooms across America every single day.
vou heard a lot about this reasonable doubt. State

has to prove this, that, +hig, that beyond a reasonable doubt.

h What is that? 1'd like you to turn to jury instruction number

£ive because this tells you exactly what it 1is. A reasonable
doubt is one based on reasoi. "It is not mere possible doubt,

wut is such a doubt as would govern or control a person in the

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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more welghty affairs of life. If the minds of the jurors,
you, after the comparison and consideration of all the
evidence_are-in such a condition that you feel an abiding
conviction of the truth of the charge, there is not a
reasonable doubt.™ There is not. If after looking at the
exnibits, if after hearing all the testimony you have an
abiding conviction of the charges we have brought forth, there
is not a reasonable doubt. Reasonable doubt must be actual.
It is not a possibility or speculation.

Now, you're dharged with this very, very hard task.
Look at all of the evidence, decide this case. What tools do
you have to make this decision? I'd like you to turn to juror
instruction number 31, towards the back., Instruction number
31 says, "Although you are to consider only the evidence in
this case in reaching a verdict, you must bring to the
consideration of the evidence your everyday COmmon Sense and
Judgment as reasonable men and women. You're not limited
solely to what you see and hear as the witnesses testify. You
;may draw reasonable inferences from the evidence which you
feel are justified in the light of corton experience, keeping
in mind that such inferences should not be based on
speculation or guess."

| You heard a lot of eyewitness testimony in this

particular case. What instruction do you have to guide you in

evaluating that testimony? I agk you to turn your attention

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAFT
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to jury instruction number eight. "The credibiiity of
nelievability of a witness should be determined by his or her
nanner upon‘the stand, her relationship to the parties, fears,
motives, interests Or feélings, opportunity te have observed
the matter to which she or he is testifying, the
reasonableness of the statements and the strengths O
weaknesses.of his recollections.” |

Yes, Officef Hoffman, Stephanie Newman and Aneka
Newnman all testified for you as eyewitnesses. Yes, some of
their descriptions of what happened kind of varied. But as
Mr. Hillman stated, adrenaline was high. Think about what
aneka was going through. What were her fears and motivations?
What was it that Aneka, as she was being stabbed 21 times by
her husbénd, what was she thinking about? Defending herself,
getting out of there. What was ner mother thinking about?
Helping her daughter, stopping her daughter from being killed.
What was Officer Hoffman thinking about at that exact moment ?
Did he have much time to react, to sit there and take a
snapshot of what exactly he saw? No.

Officer Hoffman had Just jumped over a balcony,
walked into an apartment, Saw the defendant appeared to be

punching his wife. nut he wasn't punching her. Officer

no time to react. What did he do? He tackled the defendant,

shoved the knife away OT at least got it out of his hand, and

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAET
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prought the defendant outside. Yes, he drew his weapon. He
absolutely did. EHe thd that the defendant, the defendant,
drop your knife or I'm going to fucking shoot you. That's
exactly what he said. That Was his reaction. Wnal was
Officer Hoffman thinking at that time? Was he thinking coh, 1
need to remember whether or not the victim was laying down.or
standing up? I_need,to remember their exact positioning. T
need to know exactly what was going on. No. What was he
seeing? Danger, fear, get te it. Stop it. Save her life.
vou're going toO expect variations in testimony.

Using your COmmon Sense, T ask you, you expect DNA or
at least Aneka's DNA to be everywhere. She was stabbed 21
times. You saw the bloody pictures. You expect her blood to
be everYwhere. Julie Marschner, the DNA analyst, told yoﬁ
blood DNA can consume touch DNA. What's the big deal about
this anyway”? DNA is not going to tell you the obvious. You
cannot test for the obvious. IC'S called common sense. The
defendant is holding the knife, stabbing her 21 times. Yes,
touch DNA may be there. .WEll, what is going to consume that?
aneka's blood. The pictures that ybu saw her being treated at
the hospital was after the plood or the bleeding had been
stopped. You can believe that she was bleeding all over the
place as her mother neld her against her chest trying to stop

+hose wounds. It wasn't that clean, clean wounds that you

SawW.,
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There was testimony or at least an assertion that
there was another person's DNﬁ.on it. So what? So what?
What's the claim? Officer Hoffman stabbed her? " Scme other
person did it? No, that is not it. You have three eyewitness
testimonies that the defendant held that knife and stabbed
her. You cannot test the obvious. The DNA can't tell you
anymore than what you already know.-

Burglary. Mr. Hillman talked about this. What was
his intent, what was the defendant's intent when he busted his
way through the apartment door? I submit to you, we don't
have the capability of having a recording of what exactly the
defendant was thinking before, during and after this incident.
No, we adon't havé the ability to then download his thoughts
and then play it for you. That 1s why you have to use your
common sense. You have to use your experience. You have to
use the facts and circumstances of this case to decide what
did he mean. That's the one thing you're not going to have
direct evidence of. What did he mean?

There's a valid protection order in place. He's
lurking around. He pusted his way against the wishes of Mrs.
Newman and Aneka. Burglary is with the intent to commit
assault, battery or felony. vYou could find that maybe when he
walked in he didn't have the intent to try to kill her. But
if he go much had the intent to scare her or her mother, which

is what assault is, or to batter, use unlawful force against
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Aneka or her mother, such as shoving the door open, he's

gquilty of burglary. Burglary is met. It's not that he had TO

have intended to kill her when he walked in, it's with the
intent to commit assault, battery or a felony, such as
attempted murder.

Tf you £ind that he viclated that TPO, that he busted
through that door to scare Ancka into taking him back or to
scare them into allowing him in or to Datter them by shoving
the doorlopen, he's guilty of burglary.

Where ﬁas-the defendant once he entered the
residence? Where? What kind of movements did he make? Well,
there's a big deal made about how he stocd in front of the
door most of the time. That could be true. But the evidence
has shown and the evidence is that at some point the defendant
walked over to that bar area, grabbed a knife, grabbed Aneka
and dragged her back. How do we know that? Again, we don't
have a videotape of this. We can't Just press play and say
here, jurors, this is what happened. Look with your own eyes.
What do we haﬁe?

Remember that blue bag, the blue bag with the
defendant's work schedule? The blue bag that he brought with
nim that day. That blue bag was found near the counter. That
blue bag didn't héve blood on it. Why is that important?-
Well, because all of the stabbing and the blocdy mess happened

near the entrance. That blue bag, we submit to you, the
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defendant dropped during his struggle with Aneka and in his
attempt to grab a knife and Aneka and drag her towards the
front where he could stab her. That's why ther&'s no blocd.

Now, could it have been kicked? Yes. But the fact
that there's no blood shows thét it was kicked from the bar
area towards the fronf door, if anything. If anything. TIt's
not the other way arcund where you have a clean blue bag with
no blood being kicked to the bar area from the front area
where there's blood everywhere., Use your cOmuon sense when
ydu're looking at the evidence. Yés, he stood there. He
stood near the front door blocking their entrance or exits.
But he moved from there.

There's an instruction and I'm not going to read it
to yQu again that makes a difference between motive and an
attempt to kill. Motive is whal causes someone to act a
certain way. The State doesn't have to prove mbtive in this
case. But I submit to you that we've proven it. As Mr. Burns
told you in closing argument, he wasn't getting what he
wanted. He wanted Aneka back; she wanted nothing to do with

him. So he responded in anger. And he stabbed her, he

‘attacked her. What motivation does Aneka have to engage in &

struggle with the defendant? Aneka got a temporary
restraining order against domestic violence.
When the defendant walked in against her will and

against her mother's will, what did Aneka do? She called
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2 Pl

g-j-1. Ask them to remove the defendant. Aneka did what she
needed to get help. What motivation does she have Lo engage
in-a struggle with the defendant who's bigger, who's stronger
after she had already called the police for help? None.

This attempt to kill. Mr. Hillman talked to you
about the attempt murder with a deadly weapon. There are
three different charges.— Attempt murder with a deadly weaporn,
burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon and also the
pattery charge, which has all the different other elements.
The.battery, you don't have to have a specific intent to do
anything. It's just you used forced against someone, you used
a deadly weapon, it caused substantial bodily harm. And you
saw the substantial bodily harm. Ancka stood in front of you,
took off her cardigan and showed vou the scars., The scars
from the cuts, scrapes and pokes, as the defense would call
it. She stood right here, right in front of you and showed it
to you,

You decide whether those were just cuts, scrapes and
pokes. What did the defendant intend to do when he picked up
that steak knife and thrust it into her body 21 times? We may
be losing the effect of this 21 times. You've heard it sO
many times, you saw the pokes, you Saw the reenactments, but
use your common sense. Each time the defendant grabbed that
knife, thrust it into her body, tock it out, thrust it, took

it out, thrust it, tock it out, what did he mean? What did he
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mean? What did he mean to do to Aneka?

Use your common sense to f£ill in the blanks. I
“ dfficer Hoffman had not arrived to stop £he defendant, if
Of ficer Hoffman had not walked in at that exact moment in
|'time, what would have happened to Aneka? [ submit to you that
if OFficer Hoffman had not walked in at that exact moment in
| time, vou would be deliberatingla murder case. You would have
neard not from a trauma surgeon, but from a coroner. More
l than 21 cuts, scrapes and pokes.
I told you in opening statement at the very peginning
H of this case the fact that Anecka Newman was alive on July
22nd, 2011 at 7:04 p.m. is nothing short of a miracle. The
idefendant tried to kill her. He stabbed her 21 times. It
’ caused her substantial bodily harm.and'hé went into that
apartment with the intent to do something bad to her. Find
l him guilty of all the charges.
l Thank you, Your anor.
I THE COURT: Okay. At this time, the clerk's going to
liswear the officers of the Court who will take charge of the

jury panel.

Okay. The clerk will now swear the officers of the
Court whé will take charge of the jury panel.
{(Oath to officers given)
THE COURT: At this time, ladies and gentiemen, you

are going to be excused to deliberate upon your verdict. When
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you go back to deliberate upon your verdict you can take your
“ notes as well as the jury instructions.
Mr. Richard Evans, you've been selected to be our

I alternate juror, so I'm not going to — T'm going to let you

——— P

go for now. I'm nct going to disChatge you, but I'm not going
to require you to stay at the courthouse while the jury
deliberates. You haven't been discharged because if for any
reason we need you to come back to help with the jury

| deliberations, we need vou to be able to cone back. So you're
llstill under the same admonition not to discuss the case with
anyone. - Before you go, I'm going to ask that you see the
clerk, Susan, here. She's going to take charge of all of your
notes and your -jury instructions. She's also going to get
liyour phone number so in case we have to call you back. And
1'd just ask that you don't leave the Jjurisdiction until we
IIhave discharged you. Okay?

Thank you very muéh and the jury is now discharged to
||deliberate upon their verdict. Ladies and gentlemen, the

officer is going to take you to deliberate in the back. And

as soon as you get back there we're going to bring lunch back.

(Jury recessed at 11:49 a.m.)
l MR. HILLMAN: One last thing.

THE COURT: Sure. Go ahead, Mr. Hillman.

MR. HILIMAN: Ms., Hojjat and T were on our way OVer

here. We got on the elevator downstairs, went down to a lower
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level, came back up, picked up juror number 11 and rode up in
the elevator with him, but nothing was said.

THE COURT: Ckay. So it soﬁnds like everyone
complied with the admonition.

MR. HILIMAN: Yes, we did.

THF, COURT: Number 11 didn't even try to talk to you?

MR. HILIMAN: No. He just looked at us and we looked
down.
THE COURT: Very, very good. Thank you very much for
letting me know. Thank you.
| (Court recessed at 11:50 a.m. until 2:50 p.m.)

(In the presence of the jury.)
THE COURT: Do the parties stipulate to the presence
of the jury panel?

MS., BOTELHO: Yes, we do, Your HONoI.

MR, HILIMAN: Yes, Judge.

THE COURT: OCkay. Has the jury selected a
foreperson?

JUROR NO. 12: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Sanford, have you selected to be the
foreperson?

JURCR NO. 12: Yes, Your Honor,

THE COURT: Has the jury reached a verdict?

JURCR NC, lz: TYes, we have, Your Honor.

TEE COURT: Okay. Did the Court Marshal bring you in
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here?

JURCR NO. 12: Yes.

THE COURT: OCkay. Sorry, because he has to get the
verdict form for me.

THE MARSHAL: Sorry, Judge.

THE COURT: That's okay. Cén,you Jjust get the
verdict form from Mr, Sanford? The Marshal's going tCo come

get it. If you'll just present the verdict form to the Court

Marshal, Mr. Sanford. Thank you. Okay.

At this time, if thé defendant and his attorneys will
please stand and the clerk will read the verdict form out
loud.

THE CLERK: . District Court, Clark County, Nevada,

The State of Nevada, plaintiff, Versus Bennett Grimes,
defendant, Case Number C-11-276163-1, Department 12.

Verdict. We the jury in the above entitled case find
the defendant Bennett Grimes as follows:

Count One, attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon
in violation of a temporary protective order. Guilty of
attermpt murder with use of a deadly weapon in viclation of a
temporary protective order.

Count Two, burglary while in possession of a deadly

weapon in violation of a temporary protective order. Guilty

of burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon in

violation of a temporary protective corder.
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Count Three, battery with use of a deadly weapon
” constituting domestic viclence resulting in substantial bodily
harm in violation of a temporary ?rotective order. Guilty of
“ pattery with use of a deadly weapon constituting domestic
vioclence resulting in substantial bodily harm in violation of
“ a temporary protective order.
Dated this 15th day of October, 2012, Signed by
I juror number 12, foreperson.
ladies and gentlemen of the jury, are those your
| verdicts as read, SO say you one, so say you all?
JURCRS: Yes. |
THE COURT: Does either side wish to have the jury
rlpanel polied?
“ MS. BOTELHO: The State does net, Your REonor.
MR. HILIMAN: Defense does.
" THE COURT: Okay. Atlthis time the clerk will poll
the ladies and gentlemen of the Jjury.
THE CLERX: Juror Number 1, are those your verdicts
l as read?
JUROR NUMBER 1: Yes.
THE CLERK: Juror Number 2, are those your verdicts
as read?
JUROR NUMBER 2: Yes.
THE CLERK: Juror Number 3, are those your verdicts
as read?
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as

|
P as
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as

|| as

as
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as

read?

read?

read?

read?

read?

read?

read?

read?

JUROR NUMBER 3: Yes.

THE CLERK: Jurcr Number

JUROR NUMBER 4: 7Yes.

THE CLERK: Juror Number

JUROR NUMBER 5: Yes.

TEE, CLERK: Juror Number

JUROR NUMBER 6: Yes.

THEE CIFERK: Juror Number

JURCR NUMBER 7: Yes.

THE CLERK: Juror Number

JURCR NUMBER 8: Yes.

THE CLERK: Juror Number

JUROR NUMBER 9: Yes.

are

Care

are

are

are

are

those

those

those

those

those

Those

your

your

your

your

your

your

verdicts

verdicts

verdicts

verdicts

verdicts

verdicts

THE CLERK: Juror Number 10, are those your verdicts

- JURCR NUMBER 10: Yes.

THE CLERK: Juror Number 11, are those your verdicts

JUROR NUMBER 11: Yes.
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THE CLERK: Juror Number 12, are those your verdicts

" as read?

JUROR NUMBER 1Z2: Yes;

" THE COURT: At this time, the Clerk will record the
verdict in the official record of the Court. And at this time
—— you can have a seat, thank you. At this time, ladies and

" gentlemen, I am going Lo discharge you from your duty. You
are no longer under the admonition not to discuss this case

“ with anyone. You're free to discuss this case, your
deliberation and everything that went on in here with anyone,
but you're under no obligation to discuss this case. I do

" give the attorreys tae opportunity to speak to the Jury panel,

but only if that's what you want to do. S50 when you do get
“ discharged, you're going to.go back to the jury deliberation

room with the Court Marshal, at which time I will give the

attorneys the opportunity to speak to you. But again, yocu're
under no obligation to speak to any of us.

Before I do excuse you, T do want to extend my
gratitude and thanks to you for your Willingness to be here,
especially your willingness to come back this week. I know I
speak on behalf of all of us, the attorneys and the Eighth
Judicial Court in thanking you for your willingness to be
here. At this time you are discharged as jurors. ThanleOu

very much. You're excused.

(Jury exits courtroom at 2:56 p.m.)
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1 I THE COURT: The record will reflect this hearing 1s

2 , taking place outside the presence of the jury panel. At this
3 “ time the defendant's bail wiil be revoked. He'll be remanded
4 || pending sentencing. The matter will be referred to parole and
5 , probation and it will be set for sentencing.

5 i THE CLFRK: Sentencing date, December 18th at 8:30.

7 , “HE COURT: The Court did receive a note from the

8 “ jury panel. I did not respond to the note because my only

9 | responge would have been read the Jjury instructions. But it
10 | will e marked as Court's Fxhibit next in line. The ncte, the
11 icontent of it was communicated to myself, but 1 did not

12 ’ respond to it. And the note was: Does criminal intént have
13 “ to be establisheqmyggq:e entering a structure or can intent

14 change during the chain of events for th; ;héggé*of bﬁrqlary?
15 h I didn't respond to it becéuse my only response would have
16' peen continue to deliberate and look at the instructions.

17 “ MR. HILLMAN: I think that wculd have been a correct
18 , response.

19 THE COURT: It will be Court's Exhibit Number 13. Is
20 , there anything else?

21 MS. BOTELHCO: No, Your Honor.

22 " MR. HILLMAN: No, Judge.

23 I ' THE COURT: Do you want to talk to the jury?

24 , MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor.

25 ’l MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor.
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“ THE COURT: Okay. We'll let you go and you can go
back and chat with the jury.

(Court adjourned at 2:58 p.m.)

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

“ UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAET

41 . @@10@9




el Ll b

vl o

b

ACKNOWLEDGMENT :

pursuant to Rule 3C{d) of Nevada Rules of Appellate
procedure, this is a rough draft transcript expeditiously prepared,

not proofread, corrected or certified to be an accurate transcript.

KIMBERLY LAWSON
TRANSCRIBER

UNCERTIFIED ROUGH DRAET
42

001010



10

11

12

13

Electronically Filed
04/26/2013 04:24:42 PM

%;.W

CLERK OF THE COURT

RTRAN

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
CASE # C276163-1

DEPT. Xl

Plaintiff,
VS.

BENNETT GRIMES,

I e e

Defendant.

BEEORE THE HONORABLE MICHELLE LEAVITT, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

e e R AL 1Y U7 2 IR G IR A B AT L

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 6, 2012
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TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 6, 2012 AT 10:18 A.M.

2
f 3 THE COURT: State of Nevada versus Bennett Grimes, C276163. He's
: 4 || present. He's in custody. The motion is on. 've had a chance to read it. Anybody :
- 5 ||want to say anything béyond that? :
6 MR. HILLMAN: We'll just submit it upon the pleadings, Judge.
7 THE COURT: Okay.
8 MR. COOPER: Correct, Your Honor.
9 THE COURT: At this time, the Court’s going to deny the motion and the State
10 || can prepare the order.
11 MR. COOPER: Yes, Your Honor.
12 [Proceedings concluded at 10:19 a.m.]
13 _ .
ATTEST: |do hereby cedify that | have truly and correctly franscribed the
' | audiovideo proceedings with the sound recording in the above-entitled case to the
15 || best of my ability.
16 %4/ éﬁ‘/lﬂf
: - THERESA SANCHEZ |
Court Recorder/Transcriber
18
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, DECEMBER 18, 2012, 8:48 A.M.

THE COURT: This is C276163, State of Nevada versus Bennett Grimes.
Record shdu!d reflect the presence of Mr. Grimes in custody with counsel,
representative of the State: This is time set sehtencing. My notes reflect this is
sentencing as a consequence of the jury verdict from October 15, 2012, notes of the
court staff reflects that defense was going to be requesting a continuance until
12-20, based upon the nature of the allegation, the fact that Judge Leavitt heard this
trial, frankly, my inclination would be to pass it to a time when she can address the
sentencing components here becéuse she knows the case and she has a unigue
insight in that effort.

MS. DIEFENBACH: We would agree, Your Honor. We did not -- we were not
aware that Judge Leavitt was not going to be here on Thursday the 20". That's why
we were going to ask for that date. But whatever date that she's here, we may need

to check -- this is Mr_Hillman's case, he's on a different team. He does the outers

bt
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now.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. DIEFENBACH: And so, and it was not my case. Also Ms. Hojjat did it
with him. So, we can set it for a date in early January and hope if there's a problem
we would put it back on.

THE COURT: | think in talking with the JEA for the Judge, that she may,
we're going to head towards the first week of February, frankly.

MS. DIEFENBACH: Oh, really? Allright. So it will be the first week of
February.

THE COURT: Now, | note also, State has filed a witness notffication of oral

statement; is that witness present?

Rough Draft - Page 2
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3 1 MS. TRIPPIED!: Your Honor, this is actually Agnes Botelho was going to be
i 2 || here to argue this case because she's the one that did the trial. |
- 3 THE COURT: Okay.
_: 4 MS. TRIPPIEDI: 1 can definitely get that February date for her, but if you don't
= 5 || mind just trailing it 'til the end and then we can just make sure that the date that you
6 ||give is -- E
7 THE COURT: That's fine, we'll --
8 MS. TRIPPIEDI; -- a date that is fine for her.
9 THE COURT: - find a date that works for all parties.
10 Mr. Grimes, you understand what's happening today?
11 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
1& 12 THE COURT: Allright. Very good, we'll trail, we can get everybody in the
; 13 !l room that we need.
| ([ MS—DIEFENBACHMery-good-thankyou, Your Hanor
15 [Proceeding trailed until 10:08 a.m ]
16 THE COURT: Aliright. This is C276163, State of Nevada versus
g 17 |i Bennett Grimes. The record should reflect the presence of Mr. Grimes in custody;
18 || representative of the State, Botelho, Ms. Botelho; Ms. Diefenbach on behalf of
19 || Mr. Hillman. This is the time set for sentencing. Minutes should reflect parties,
20 || sidebar have indicated that the — now Ms. Botelho's in the room, she's indicating
21 ||that there are victim impact statements that the State wishes to present.
B 22 MS. BOTELHO: Yes. |
23 THE COURT: Although we weren't really clear on that before, that because
i 54 || this is a jury trial and Judge Leavitt has heard the trial and the allegations are
| 25 || serious -- of a serious nature and the victim impact has flown in to participate, that
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b 1 lthe idea is to have that victim impact in JAVS, take a video, basically JAVS capture :
2 |lof that, that Judge Leavitt will have the opportunity to review that as a component of
: 3 ||the sentence effort that will happen on the first of February so they don't have to
; 4 ||return, but that important information can be preserved. Is that where we're
1 5 |lheaded?
6 MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor. |
7 THE COURT: Does everybody agree?
8 MS. DIEFENBACH: So it's going to be done and put on JAVS, what - is that
9 || still on December 202
10 MS. BOTELHO: Today.
11 THE COURT: No, the December 20" date --
12 MS. DIEFENBACH: Today?
13 THE COURT: - is not a function. | think - are these folks the victim impact; |
4TS thatcormrect?
15 MS. BQTELHO: Yes, Your Honor.
16 THE COURT: For the record, could you state who these individuals are?
. 17 MS. BOTELHO:. Yes, Your Honor. | have Earl Newman, Anika Grimes -~
? 18 [Colloguy between Ms. Botelho and members of the audience]
19 MS. BOTELHO: -- it's actually just going to be Mr. Earl Grimes, giving a
20 || victim -- oh, I'm sorry, Mr. Earl --
21 THE COURT: Mr. Newman? Earl Newman is the one that's identified by way
3 22 || of notification.
23 MS. BOTELHO: Yes.
24 THE COURT: So you've met that statUtory notice requirement.
25 MS. BOTELHO: Yes.
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- THE COURT: So Mr. Newman is going to give that impact.

2 Officer, 'm going to need ~ because | want to do a capture off the

3 || witness stand. 86 we'll present that information and then set a date in early

4 || February to move forward for the totality of the sentence hearing; fair enough?

5 MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor.

6 THE COURT: Allright, Ms. Diefenbach?

7 MS. DIEFENBACH: Yes, that is -- that is my understanding as well,

8 || Your Honor.

9 THE COURT: All right.
10 THE DEFENDANT: What's the reason for a victim impact?
11 THE COURT: Under Nevada law, a victim or a family member as identified is
12 || permitted to address the Court and to offer what's called classic victim impact, how
13 |[the offense has impacted the family and they, under law they get to go last. Okay.
12T Youitgetamopportunity, Mr—Grimesto addressthe Court too_and offer information
15 ||in mitigation of sentence before the judge reviews this information. I'm sure she'll
16 !l follow the rules or whoever the sentencing judge is. | would hope it would be
17 |}Judge Leavitt because she heard the trial. | don't know the case. | hear lots of
18 !|trials. And there's a lot of insight that a judge draws as a function of listening o
19 [l witnesses testify. You understand that?
20 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
21 THE COURT: All right. Let's put the witness under oath, please.
22 EARL LAWRENCE NEWMAN, |
23 [having been called as a victim witness and first duly sworn, testified as follows:]
24 THE CLERK: Thank you, please be seated. And could you please state your
25 || full name spelling your first and last name for the record?
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THE WITNESS: Okay. My name is Earl Lawrence Newman, first name
spelied Earl, E-A-R-L, last name Newman, N-E-W-M-A-N.
THE COURT: Mr. Newman, what would you like Judge Leavitt to
understand?
THE WITNESS: Well, | just have a impact statement that I'd like to read.
| THE COURT: How ever you wish proceed, yes.
THE WITNESS: Okay. Thank you. Thank you, Your Henor.
| speak today on behaif of my daughter, Anika, and my entire family and
would like to thank you for giving us this opportunity to share the emotional impact
that this horrific act of selfishness has had on all of us, in particular the emotional
stress and anxiety that Bennett Grimes placed on my daughter, Anika.
| myself, up until this incident, have never been a victim of violent crime,

and | can only hope that my family or anyone else in this courtroom will never have
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to experience this-sort-of

pain
victims either directly or indirectly. My daughter, Anika, will always have the
unfortunate'scars and memory of this violent act etched in her mind forever. Going
forward, her life will change and she will, without a doubt, move on to better things.
But the marks on her skin will never diminish and will always be a constant reminder
how close she came to having her life ended. Bennett, on the other hand, only
ended up with a small cut on his hand. It just does not seem fair.

The vicious and potentially deadly attack on Anika at the hands of
Bennett Grimeé did not have to happen. He could have been a true man and
recognized that his relationship with Anika was over. He could have moved on,

changed his life and found someone else. He knew he was not supposed to be at

that apartment. He knew he was not supposeq to have any contact with my
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daughter, Anika. He knew that she had a restraining order against him, but instead
he chose to 1gnore all of that and lurk in the shadows waiting for his chance to do
harm. ltis truly sad to see such irresponsible, angry, and aggresswe behavior by
someone who claims to be an aduit.

Sadly, Your Honor, there is one other victim to this tragedy, and that's
my wife, Stephanie. To have to witness her own flesh and blood aftacked in such a
horrible faéhio_n is more than any mother should have to see or endure. And then in
the moments immediately after her attack to see your daughter bleeding profusely
from so many places, not knowing if any of her over 20 stabs wounds would be fatal,
to have your clothing soaked with your child's biood, to be inches away from
potentially being stabbed yourself is more than any mother should have to
comprehend. This too did not have to happen if Bennett had been a real man, a

stand-up man, a man of honor and adhere to the guidelines of the restraining order.

MNI\)I\)I\JI\)—\A_\_:-_.-._;
(J'Ib@[\.)-—-‘O(OG)‘\IO)(.ﬂh

He chose not to be any of these things and-so-today-herewe-are-

The anguish and worry that We had to endure in the days, weeks, and
months following the attack were unbearable. We wondered if Anika would regain
the use of hér hand and her arm. More importantly, we wondered how she would
ever recover mentally. There were many days of tears, depression, followed by
fear, anger, and resentment.

In the days and weeks leading up o these proceedings, my daughter
was so fearful that Bennett would some how 'get out of custody and come back to
harm her. She stressed about what would be the outcome of the court trial, we all
did. Would he figure out a way to beat the charges against him and be found not
guilty was almost as bad as the attack itself, If myself have one regretis that | did

not do more to warn and protect my daughter from the unstable behavior of Bennett

Rough Draft - Page 7
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that | had witnessed and been made aware of in the past few years.

In closing, Your Honor, we are not the type of people to seek

2
3 vengeancé or to decide what the punishment should be, we leave that up to you. |
4 |lwould like to say that we ére forgiving but not forgetting. The jury has spoken and
5 || they made their voices heard. We now leave our trust-and faith in your just and
6 oapable- hands to administer the appropriate punishment. We want him to
7 || understand that not only did he hurt our family, he hurt his family as well.
8 And once again, thank you for your time and for alldwing me this
9 || opportunity to present this emotional impact that this horrific crime has had on my
10 || daughter, my wife, and my entire family. Thank you.
11 THE COURT: Are there any questions, Ms. Botetho?
12 MS. BOTELHO: None, from the State, Your Honor,
13 THE COURT: Ms. Diefenbach?
% MS—DIEFENBAGH—NeoYeourHonor.
15 THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Newman, please step down.
16 All right, consistent with the discussion prior to Mr. Newman's victim
17 ||impact, Wé're going to set this for sentencing hearing the first week of February.
18 THE COURT CLERK: That'll be February 7" at 8:30.
19 MS. BOTELHO: Thank you, Your Honor.
20 THE COURT: Anything else either side?
21 MS. DIEFENBACH: No, Your Honor.
22 MS. BOTELHO: No, thank you, Your Honor.
23 [t
24 ||
25 ||

Rough Draft - Page 8
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PROCEEDING CONCLUDED AT 10:15 A.M.

proofread, corrected, or certified to be an accurate transcript.
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THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 7, 2013 AT 933 AM.

S 3 " THE COURT: State of Nevada v Bennett Grimes, C276163. He's present,
3 4 |lhe’s in custody. This is the date and time set for entry of judgment, imposition of
‘ 5 || sentencing. |
6| Mr. Grimes, any legal cause or reason why judgment should not be
7 || pronounced against you at this time?
8 MS. HOJJAT: Your Honor, very briefly, we're not asking for a continuance,
9 || but 1 did just want to note for the record that the PSI at one point is recommending
10 1érge habitual treatment and Mr. Grimes is not eligible for large habitual treatment.
i i THE COURT: Is the State seeking -~
1 12 MS. BOTELHO: No, we're not, Your Honor.
! 13 THE COURT: You're not seeking to habitualize him at all?
T MSBOTEEHO—We-are-seeking-fora-habitual sentence, but underthe small
15 THE COURT: Under the small. Okay.
16 MS. HOJJAT: And so we just wanted to note for the record that the PSI was
17 ||incorrect in suggesting large habitual, he's not eligible for large habitual treatment.
18 || It was my understanding the State is not seeking large habitual.
19 THE COURT: Okay. That's fine.
20 MS. BOTELHO: That's true.
21 MS. HOJJAT: And then other than that, | just wanted to inquire whether the
g 22 || Court had received the letters. | believe Mr. Hillman was going to send to the Court
23 1 the support letters.
24 THE COURT: Uh-huh.
25 MS. HOJJAT: In that case, no legal cause or reason.

2.
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THE COURT: Well, let me just make sure they're the ones you think they are.

THE COURT: Sure. You can hand it to the - you can hand it to the CQOor
Okay. So Mr. Grimes, any legal cause or reason -- thank you, thank

THE DEFENDANT: No, | don't. But| was also aware that a Prop 36 Program

2 ||Uh-huh. Yep. |

3ll°  MS. HOJJAT: We're ready to proceed, Your Honor.

4 THE DEFENDANT: Bailiff, the statement form.

D THE COURT: I'm sorry, Mr. Grimes?

6 THE DEFENDANT: | was frying to hand you a statement.

;

8 ||the court marshal and present it to the Court.

. |

10 || you very much -- why judgment should not be pronounced against you at this time?
11

12 {| was in effect now.

13 THE COURT: What?

L THEDE

15 THE COURT: Any reason why judgment should not be -

16 | THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

17 THE COURT: -- pronounced against you at this time?

18 THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am. |

19 THE COURT: What do you think Prop 6 Program is?
20 THE DEFENDANT: 36. He had mentioned it that it was in effect. It's a
21 || situation where the inmate or whatever can go to a program as far as like an
22 |}in-house or halfway program or something.
23

24 |} anything even remotely close.
25 MS. BOTELHO: | don't either.

THE COURT: | reviewed his sentencing with Judge Barker. | don't recall

001024



THE COURT: That being mentioned.

THE DEFENDANT: He had mentioned Prop 36 was in effect in the state,
that's what he had mentioned. So. |

THE COURT: Prop 36.

THE DEFENDANT: That's what he had mentioned.

6 THE COURT: Well, in Nevada we don't call it your -- | mean, in California,
7 ||they call it propositions, in Nevada we don’t refer to -
8 THE DEFENDANT: That's -- that's what he stated as, what his word, it was
o proposition.
10 THE COURT: | reviewed the sentencing and | don't recall anything even
11 || remotely close to fhat. ' |
12 THE DEFENDANT: He didn't saying during my standing, he said it during
13 || someone else’s standing that he had mentioned that it was in effect.
T tColtoauy-betweenthe-Courtandihe Court Clerk]
15 THE COURT: Okay.
16 THE DEFENDANT: By the way, | was just seeking if that was possible.
17 THE COURT: He said it during another case, had nothing to do with you.
18 THE DEFENDANT: | know. | was -- he said that it was in effect so | was
19 ||just -
20 THE COURT: Any reason —
21 THE DEFENDANT: - mentioning if it was available to me as well.
22 THE COURT: Any reason why we shouldn’t proceed with your sentencing
23 || today?
24 THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.
25 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you, sir.
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Does the State wish -- by virtue of the jury verdict return in this matter, |
hereby adjudicate you guilty of Count 1, attempt murder with use of a deadly
weapon in violation of temporary protective order. |

Count 2, burglary while in possession of a firearm in violation of
temporary protective order.

Count 3, battery with use of a deadly weapon constituting in domestic
violence resulting in substantial bodily harm in violétion of a temporary protective
order.

Does the State wish to address the Court?

MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor. The State’s not going to rehash the facts
and circumstances of this particular case, you presided over the trial and so very
confident in your recollection of what occurred and what the testimony and evidence

showed to be.

15
16
17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

rwithsay-this-theughrthat the-Defendant's conduct consfiited a viclous,

heinous attack against Anika in front of her mother. Anika is present here today with
her family. And 1 can also tell the Court this, that Anika would be dead had it not
been for the heroic actions of police officers who saved her life that day who
responded and had to prefty much tackle this knife out of the Defendant's hand as
he was going for his 22™ stab.

The Defendant has two prior DV convictions from California, Your
Honor, from 2000 and also 2004. 1 will approach in just a minute and present the
Court with the certified judgments of conviction. | will note there’s a Post-it on the
2000 conviction paperwork. | have that noted because the Defendant used a knife
in that particular case. So he has this propensity for not only using violence, but

also using deadly weapons.
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He's 33 years old and in the 33 years that he has been around, he’s
already left two victims -- actually, three victims and just a trail of violence that's
never -- that can never be undone. | read his Presentence Investigation interview
and what really struck me was that given the severity of this particular crime, he
minimized the severity of his offense. In fact, I'll guote him on page 7, he says: |
think people are taking this case more serious than it was.

And despite being convicted by a jury and the state of the evidence,
what's missing from this PSlis: And I'm sorry, | shouldn’t have done it, | will never
do it again. None of that is here. In fact, he fails to acknowledge any kind of
responsibility for his conduct. And that just shows to us, Your Honor, that he
constitutes ah ongoing threat to women, particularly Anika. He hasn’t shown any
signs of change. Conviction from 2000, 2004, and now from 2012. He is going to

keep victimizing women. And the next victim, if he's released, he has this

15

16

7

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

opporturity, Tray rot-be astucky-asAnikawas— |
For these reasons, Your Honor, the State is recommending the

following sentence: As to Count 1, the attemnpt murder, the State is recommending
a sentence of 8 to 20 years. We would ask that for the deadly weapon
enhancement, that he be sentenced to 8 to 20 years consecutive,

THE COURT: | think you can only choose one enhancement. | think if you're
asking for the smali habitual -- | mean --

MS. BOTELHO: We're not asking for habitual on this particular charge --

THE COURT: Oh, okay.

MS. BOTELHO: -- or on this particular count.

THE COURT.: I'm sorry.

MS. BOTELHO: Yes.
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THE COURT: So on this particular count, you're not asking him to be
hébitualized?

MS. BOTELHO: No, Your Honor. We're asking for ah 8 to 20 on the attempt
murder, plus a consecutive 8 to 20 on the deadly weapon enhancement. And the
reason for the 8 to 20 being justified in the enhancement is that you heard the
testimony, he stabbed her 21 times barely missing, you know, arterieé that really
could have killed her.

As to Count 2, we are asking for small habitual treatment. We would
ask for a sentence of 8 to 20 years bonsecutive to the attempt murder with a deadly
weapon.

As to Count 3, we're asking for the battery with a deadiy weapon
resulting in substantial domestic violence in violation of a TPO, we ask that small

habitual treatment also be imposed and that an 8- to 20-year term be imposed

consecutive to Counfs 1 and 2

(RSN AT [ER = QUL EL || AR LT
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THE COURT: Okay. So you're asking for habitual on Count 2 and 3 -

MS. BOTELHO: That's correct.

THE COURT: -- but not Count 1.

MS. BOTELHO: That's correct.

THE COURT: Okay. |

MS. BOTELHQ: Your Honor, we believe the Defendant should be in prison
for as long as the scars and these memories live in Anika. So we feel that this is an
appropriate sentence.

May | approach with the certified judgments of conviction?
THE GOURT: Sure. Has the defense Seen them?
MS. BOTELHO: They have, it was given to them prior to trial.
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[The State shows documents fo Defense Counsel]
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2 MS. BOTELHO: Thank you.
% 3 THE COURT: Okay. Do you want to go through them? How many of them
: -4 |lare there here?
: 5 MS. BOTELHO: There are two, Your Honor.
| 6 THE COURT: Okay. There's two? :
7 MS. BOTELHO: Yes.
8 THE COURT: Any objection from the defense regarding these and whether
9 |l they're your client?
10 MS. HOJJAT: We have no objection regarding the judgments of conviction,
11 || Your Honor.
12 THE COURT: Okay. They'll be marked as Court Exhibit 1 and 2 and made
| 13 || part of the record.
| 14 Qkay, Mr._Grimes
1 19 THE DEFENDANT: | handed you a statement. Also if you could read that,
| 16 THE COURT: I'm sorry?
: 17 THE CORRECTIONS OFFICER: Speak up, sir.
% 18 THE DEEENDANT: | handed you a statement to see if you could read that.
19 THE COURT: Uh-huh.
[ 20 | [Court reads statement]
21 THE COURT: So basically you want probation and you wént to go on an
j 22 {|interstate compact is what | got out of that.
[ 23 THE DEFENDANT: Well, 've been -- I've been told that it's not available, but
| 24 || that was my asking.
25 THE COURT: Pardon?

gOL023
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THE DEFENDANT: | said | heard that — they were told me -- they told me it
wasn’t available, but that was my asking in the letter, yes.

THE COURT: Okay. |

MS. HOJJAT: And, Your Honor, to start off, | didn't want to interrupt anybody

but we are actually objecting to adjudication of Count 3 in this case, the battery with

use of a deadly weapon constituting domestic violence resulting in substantial bodily|

harm in violation of a temporary protective order. There was some talk of this during
the trial, 'm not sure if the Court --

THE COURT: You're right. .I mean, does- the State have any objection to it
being dismissed?

MS. BOTELHO: We actually do, Your Honor. | have copy of case law, Adriar
Jackson versus the State of Nevada, it's an advisory opinion but basically it deals

with the issue of redundancy and also whether or not a Defendant can be

e of b
LI

oth-the Counts—1 -~ Count 1 attempt murder with use, and alsql.

PR A S A R A

15
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19

20
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24

25

adjudicated-guilty
Count 3, battery with a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm. ltis
directly on point. It essentially says yes, you can adjudicate him guilty as to both.

THE COURT: What's an advisory opinion? Because the Nevada Supreme
Court -~

MS. BOTELHO: It's going to be published and -- it just came out, Your Honor.
May I approach?

THE COURT: Sure.

MS. HOJJAT: And, Your Honor, if | may --

THE COURT: Why do you -- why don't we -- you be able to taik all you wént,
but this is a long case and so why don't we trail it? I mean, this is 14 pages. | want

an opportunity to read it.

-9-
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MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor.

SLE TR T T

] 2 THE COURT: Because I'm not quite sure you cén be convicted of both. So |
i 3 {1'd like to see what the case says. |
4 MS. HOJJAT: Right.
: 5 THE COURT: So we'll trail it to the end.
| 6 MS. HOJJAT: Very well, Your Honor.
7 THE COURT: | mean, my instincts are you can be convicted of both, but if
8 ||this case says - | mean, it's a December 6, 2012 -
9 MS. HOJJAT: And, Your Honor, that was going to be my argument. This
10 || case actually came out after we went to trial on this case. The defense did not raise
11 |l an objection, the defense did not move to consolidate.
12 THE COURT: So | don't know that it matters whether it came out afterwards
13 } or before or.
T4 MSHOJIAT Weti—
15 THE COURT: | don't know that it would be a new law. But i don’t know, iet
16 | me read it first.
17 MS. HOJJAT: Very well, Your Honor.
18 THE COURT: Okay?
19 MS. HOJJAT: Very well, Your Honor.
20 THE COURT: If ] think | need more time, I'll let you know. Okay?
21 MS. HOJJAT: Thank you, Your Henor.
22 THE COURT: So Pl trail this.
23 MS. HOJJAT: Thank you, Your Honor.
24 THE COURT: You know what? | may need more time. | mean, this case (s
25 ||like 14, 15 pages long. And | don't want to make a decision on the fly. So can we

-10-
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continue it at least till next Tuesday? Is everyone okay with that?
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i 2 'MS. HOJJAT: | have no objections, Your Honor.
; 3 MS. BOTELHO: And the Stéte s fine with that, Your Honor. Thank you.
4 THE COURT: Okay. SoTuesday. |
- 5 And you have a copy of this case or at least the citation?
6 MS. HOJJAT: | don't, Your Honor, actually.
7 THE COURT: Okay. The citation is 128 Nevada Advanced Opinion 55. |
8 ||don’t have a Pacific Reporter citation.
9 If you want, | can have Pam come in here and copy it for you. |t might
10 || be easier for you to get it.
11 MS. HOJJAT: Thank you. Thank you, Your Honor.
12 THE COURT: It might be easier.
13 MS. HOJJAT: Thank you, Your Honor, | appreciate that.
& THE COURTDoyouguys-getthe-advanced opIinioNs ==
15 MS. HOJJAT: I'm not sure.
16 THE COURT: -- e-mailed to you?
17 MS. HOJJAT:‘ We don't, Your Honor, we don't have it e-mailed.
8 THE COURT: Okay. |do, but | have a feeling that it might be harder for you
19 ||to get it.
20 MS. HOJJAT: Yes, Your Honor.
21 THE COURT: Okay. So Pam will come in and copy this.
22 MS. HOJJAT: Thank you, Your Honor.
23
24 L.
25

-11-
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THE COURT: Okay. Tuesday.

THE CLERK: February 12" at 8:30.

THE COURT: Thank you.

[Proceeding concluded at 9:50 a.m.]
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TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 12, 2013 AT 10:00 A.M.

And Mr. Hillman, were you made aware of what the issue was last

THE COURT: Okay. And you've read the Jackson case?

THE COURT: Okay. What's your -- are you in agreement?
MR. HILLMAN: Well, the Supreme Court’s said what they've said on this.

MR. HILLMAN: However, my understanding is that the case wasn't published

2
3
: 4 |l custody. This is on for sentencing.
5
6 W time?
7 MR. HILLMAN: Yes, Judge.
8
9 MR. HILLMAN: Yes, Judge.
10
11
12 THE COURT: Right.
| 13
= H—unti-afterthiscas
15 || that it seems to be ex post facto to me.
16 THE COURT: Well -
17
18 THE COURT: Okay.
| 19
’ 20
21
_f 22
23
24 THE COURT: Uh-huh.
25

MR. HILLMAN: If not practically --

MR. HILLMAN: -- | mean, if not legally, at least practically. Because
Mr. Grimes and | have talked about this very issue very first ime we talked about
the elements of the case, potential punishment. 1t affected the way we prepared for
this case, it affected the way we presented this case. And if | remember correctly

when we were settling jury instructions in chambers, we talked specifically about --

MR. HILLMAN: -- Count 3 merging.

2-

G01035

THE COURT: State of Nevada versus Bennett Grimes. He's present; heisin|
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NP R A

oledee e

10

11

12

13

THE COURT: Okay. 'm not quite sure this is a new rule, it's not a new rule.
| mean, the Supreme Court basically just analyzed it unde‘r Blockburger. Soit
wouldn’t be a retroactive, it means we were doing things wrong before. Right?
That's all it means to me is that we were just doing it wrong.

MR. HILLMAN: Yeah. And in effect --

THE COURT: And the Supreme Court says don't dd it wrong anymore.

MR. HILLMAN: And in effect what that does, that makes us ineffective in our
representations of the fruth for Mr. Grimes. |

MR. BURNS: Your Honor, if I could respond to that. I'll respond to the ex
post facto issue. The law interpreting Strickland is abundantly clear that counsel is
not ineffective for failing to anticipate changes in the law. And I think that's exactly
what Mr. Hillman and Ms. Hojjat were doing. They were clearly not in facto to this |

case.

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Asto whgthefeﬁﬁet—this—weuldgensﬁtute_anax_posmm_lam_mu;ﬂ_—

doesn't fit into any of Calder versus Bull’s four categories.

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. BURNS: It's not a law as that term of art would be construed for an ex
post facto analysis. The law is very clear from the U.S. Supreme Court California
Department of Corrections versus Morales that just because a Defendant ends up
being exposed to a worse situation, that these procedural changes are bad for him
doesn’t mean it's an ex post facto violation.

And just as juris prudential clarification, it's certainly not a type of -- it's
not a change in a new law, and more importantly the quantum of punishment
attached to his conduct has not changed. So it doesn’t meet any of Calder versus

Bull’s four categories which the U.S. Supreme Court has admonished ex post facto

vy10306
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analysis should not go beyond.
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] 2 THE COURT: Okay. And everyone agrees - | know last time there was
i 3 ||some concern, you only get one enhancement. |
ﬁ 4 ~ MS. BOTELHO: Yes, Your Honor.
: 5 THE COURT: So how does the State want {0 proceed?
6 | mean, | can't rule on any issue about being ineffective -
7 MR, HILLMAN: Right. Not at this point in time.
8 THE COURT: -- you agree, right?
¢ MR. HILLMAN: Sure.
10 THE COURT: | mean, you agree that | have to sentence him first?
1 MR. HILLMAN: Correct.
2 THE COURT: Okay. All right.
13 So Mr. Grimes, you understand today’s the date and time set for entry
T4 [ of judgment, Tmposition of-sentencing
15 THE DEFENDANT: Yes. |
16 THE COURT: Any legal cause or reason why judgment should not be
17 || pronounced against you at this time? |
18 THE DEFENDANT: No.
19 THE COURT: By virtue of the verdict returned by the jury in this matter, |
20 || hereby adjudicate you guilty of Count 1, attempt murder with use of a deadly
21 || weapon in violation of a temporary protective order.
= 22 Gount 2, burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon in violation of
23 || a temporary protective order.
24 " Count 3, battery with use of a deadly weapon, constituting domestic
25 || violence resulting in substantial bodily harm in violation of a temporary protective
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order.
So how is the State going to proceed?

MS. BOTELHO: Your Honor, as in the previous date, we asked as to the
attempt murder, we asked for 8 to 20 years just for the attempt murder as to that.
With regard to any enhancement, we ask for the deadly weapon enhancement, we
ask for a consecutive 20 - 8 to 20 years as to that charge.

As to Count 2, battery - or excuse me, burglary with a deadly weapon

with a temporary protective -- violation of temporary protective order, we asked for

9 || treatment under small habitua! which is an 8 to 20, consecutive to Count 1.
10 With Count 3, we asked also for small habitual treatment, 8 to 20 years
11 || consecutive fo Counts 1 and 2. With us asking for the small habitual treatment kind
12 || of doesn’t necessitate the deadly weapon violation of TPO finding or any

13 |l enhancement. |

4 FRECOURT—Okay—Doyou-have-yeurpriors{oprove up?

15 MS. BOTELHO: We gave that .to the Court at the last hearing --

16 THE COURT: Okay.

17 MS. BOTELHO: -- Your Honor. They've been marked as exhibits. There -
18 || were no objections [indiscernible]. | .

19 THE COURT: That's right. There -- Mr. Hillman, there’s no objection to the
20 (| priors?
21 MR. HILLMAN: | assume Ms. Hojjat looked over them and talked about it.

22 1| So. _
23 THE COURT: Okay. Do you want, I'l get them for you. | just want to make
24 || sure there's no objection.

25

MR. HILLMAN: If they've been marked and admitted, I'm sure that they were

VU038




reviewed --

THE COURT: Okay.
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i 3 MR. HILLMAN: -- and any record needed to be made was made at that time.
: 4 THE COURT: Okay. So basically the State’s asking for the small habitual as
: 5 ||to all three counts? | |

6 MS. BOTELHO: As to Counts 2 and 3, Your Honor. We're asking for -- not

7 | habitual treatment on Count 1 which is the attempt murder with use. We're asking

8 ||for 8 to 20 on the attempt murder and a consecutive 8 to 20 on the deadly weapon.

9 THE COURT: Oh, okay. All right. It's basically kind of the same thing,

10 || though. All right.

11 MS. BOTELHO: Yes.

12 THE COURT: That you're asking me to utilize the deadily weapon

13 || enhancement.

T MS: 'SOTELHO. Yes; Your Honror

15 THE GOURT: Okay. Gotit.

16 Mr. Grimes, do you want to say anything? | have to tell you, I'm a little

17 || disappointed in yoUr statement when you said that we're all making just too big of a

18 || deal about this.

19 THE DEFENDANT: | don't remember saying that.

20 THE COURT: Do you want me to read it to you?

21 THE DEFENDANT: She -- | didn't state that for word for word for her.

22 THE COURT: You think we're making too big of a deal of this and you

23 || deserve probation.

24 THE DEFENDANT: | never told her that it wasn’t a serious crime or anything,

25 11| said that --
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THE COURT: ! didn't say that.

THE DEFENDANT: No, she said that -- that { - [ihdiscemible].

THE COURT: | think and it's a quote -- let me just read it to you. It's page 7,
quote: | think people are taking this case more serious than it was.

THE DEFENDANT: Well, I think the charges filed were excessive.

THE COURT: You've got to be kidding me. How -- you stabbed that woman
numerous times.

MR. HILLMAN: Mr. Grimes and | have talked about this exact point. And |
think what happened is there was a bit of miscommunication in that Mr. Grimes
when he went over to Anika's house didn’t expect the things to turn out like they did
and that's how --

THE COURT: | believe that would probably be true, but it d_id. Okay. |
believe maybe that's true that you went over there but you didn’t expect things to

turmout the way-they

156
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| sat up here and watched that woman testify and looked over at her

and saw that - just looking at her, not even trying, and | saw the horrible horrendous

scars left on her, like, area that you can see just in normal clothing. Horrific scars
that she has to live with the rest of her life. | think the girl's lucky that she’s alive, if
you want my opinion. How many times was she stabbed? It was --

MS. BOTELHO: 21.

THE COURT: Pardon?

MS. BOTELHO: 21.

THE COURT: | mean, 21 times. 21 times. | mean, at some point a voice of

|l reason has an opportunity to take over and say, ooh, you know, she’s going to die.

In front of her mother. Her mother couldn’t even protect her from you while her

601040
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father sat on the phone and listened to the horror that was transpiring.
And you have no hope with that girl, you understand that, right? She’s

divorcing you, if she hasn’t divorced you already. '

THE DEFENDANT: | heard it was final. So.

THE COURT: Pardon? |

THE DEFENDANT: Our papers are already final.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. So you get - you've got to move on. Okay.
Do you want to say anything prior to sentencing? Because I'm telling you, ! don’t
think anybody is making this a bigger deal. 1think that what happened that day, |
think that girl, 1 think it's a miracle that she’s alive. And | think that police officer, |
think he saved her life because | don't think you were going to stop.

THE DEFENDANT: Um. )

THE COURT: |f you're not going to stop with someone’s mother there. You

15

16
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23
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25

krTow—tttook-someone-with-a-gun-pointing ==

THE DEFENDANT: | apologize to the situation that took place --

THE COURT: --it to your head --

THE DEFENDANT: -- Your Honor.

THE GOURT: -- and threaten to kill you.

THE DEFENDANT: | take responsibility for what happened there that day,
but all the details don’t add up correctly. Like police officers doing this or that or
what happened --

THE COURT: Okay. 21 stab wounds don'tlie. The doctor, she doesn’t have
a dog in this fight. -She just happens to be the doctor on duty that the trauma patient
gets brought into. And she talked - do you remember her testimony?

THE DEFENDANT: | never physically had possession of that knife in the first

Ug1044
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place.

THE COURT: Oh, for the love of all that's good in this world. So she stabbed
herself 21 times. | |

THE DEFENDANT: No, we were tussling over the knife.

THE COURT: No, no, no, no, no, no, no, no. You can't tussle over a knife
and get 21 stab wounds and you get a scfatch on your finger. That's what you got.

THE DE_FENDANT: Yeah, well, she initiated -

THE COURT: You did not get a stab wound, you got a scratch.

THE DEFENDANT: But initiated the fight is her first swinging the knife at me.

THE COURT: So she was swinging the knife at you?

THE DEFENDANT: She swung it at me which initiated a struggle and then
wrestling to get the knife loose.

THE COURT: Okay. And everybody's a liar, everybody that saw you

15
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stabbing her-

THE DEFENDANT: No one saw -- N0 One Saw anything. No testimony -

THE COURT: Her mother did.

THE DEFENDANT: She didn’'t see anything. Neither did the cops.

THE COURT: Her mother was there the whole time.

Okay. Do you understand that 21 stab wounds is 21 stab wounds?

THE DEFENDANT: | understand.

THE COURT: That you just sound stupid today by saying that you tussled
with a knife and you came out with an itty bitty scratch? An itty bitty scratch. P'll get
the picture out. Because you came out with an itty bitty scratch and she came out
with 21 stab wounds and horrific scars that | saw with her sitting there with normal

clothes on. Horrific scars.
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Any wit -- | mean, you stab someone in the chest, they die -- they ¢an
die. It's a miracle that woman didn't die, 21 stab wounds. ltis a miracle she didn't
die. You don't get 21 stabs from tussling. So. | mean, | thought after the trial and
you'd heard all the evidence that you would, you know, give up the tussling with the
knife story.

THE DEFENDANT: Waver from what actually happened.

THE COURT: Okay. Even though if's impossible.

THE DEFENDANT: That's an opinion --

THE COURT: Unless she stabbed herseif.

THE DEFENDANT: No. That's an opinion based on someong --

THE COURT: It's impossible based upon the facts.

THE DEFENDANT: -- looking from the oufside In.

THE COURT: Okay. | sat here and listened o it every day. it's impossible

T
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based o the facts—Abselutely-impessible- But.

Mr. Hillman. |
MR. HILLMAN: Judge, that's been Mr. Grimes’ position from when we first
talked about it was that she came at him with a knife. And as | argued to the jury,
they were the result of two people fighting with a knife.
THE COURT: And maybe she did. But 21 stab wounds isn't -
MR. HILLMAN: And | wasn’t there. | mean, that was -- that's always been a
problem, it's always been a problem with this case and --
THE COURT: Uh-huh.
MR. HILLMAN: -- Bennett and | talked about that as well.
The State is in fact asking for 40 to 100 years on this particular case. If

Anika Grimes had died as a resuit of her wounds, that's pretty much the sentence

-10-
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he would get for first-degree murder with use wouid be 40 years to life. That's not
what happened here.

THE COURT: Problem is, this guy has a history of beating up on women.

MR. HILLMAN: She has -- she was stabbed 21 times, she went to the
hospital, she had some sutures, she left the next day. And | admit, it could have
been much worse than it was.

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. HILLMAN: But 'm thinking that the top end of the sentencing scheme
should be saved for those who are the worst of the worst. Bennett Grimes should
not have gone over to that apartment, we've talked about it. He had a temporary
restraining order. But they had this before where they were on the outs, he'd gone
back, they worked things out.

He had gotten a new job, he took the proof that he had a new job to
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kind df smooththe-domestic-relationship-out-he wanted to-talk to_her about that. He
didn't hide in the bushes and wait for them. He didn't break down the door. He
pushed his way in or they gave up talking to him and stepped away and he stepped
in. He didn't bring a weapon - |

THE COURT: | agree.

MR. HILLMAN: -- to this. The weapon was in the apartment. And there's
some dispute in Bennett's mind about how the whole thing started. Bennett
Grimes -- and there was a problem with the burglary as well in that | think that that
burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon confused the jury to a great extent.
Hojjat spoke with the jurors afterwards and several of them said we didn't think that
he went there with the intent to do anything but he got the knife after so he

committed burglary with intent.

-11-
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And | didn’t cover that very well in my closing argument because | still
think that the evidence shows that Bennett went over there not with the intent to
commit any particular crime. And that's a real problem in this case.

We sent letters to Your Honor from his family, from his friends. I've
spoken a ot with his family, he's got a loving family. He's a young man, he’s only

34 years of age. He's got two children.

7 THE COURT: Well, and | can’t figure out because your wife is a lovely -- your
8 |l ex-wife is a lovely woman. |
9 MR. HILLMAN: The children are --
10 THE COURT: | couldn't figure it out.
11 MR. HILLMAN: -- are currently living with Bennetf’s parents.
12 THE COURT: But they're not -- they’re another wife’s children.
13 MR. HILLMAN: They're Anika's children, no.
‘ + THE-COURT-—0Okay-
| 15 MR. HILLMAN: Bennett understands that there’s nothing between him and
16 || Anika anymore. We talked about that several months ago, so that's completely over
17 || with. But these children are going to grow up without seeing Bennett as well. And
18 |ithat's due in large part to Bennett's own activities and his own actions and he
19 ||understands that as well.
20 But what I'm going to ask you to do'is to just -- if we're talking 8 to 20s,
21 ||let's run them concurrent. That will put him eligible for parole at the age of 42, It will
= 22 || give the Department of Parole and Probation a lot of time to keep him on parole if
23 || they deem him worthy of parole. And that would be my request.
24 THE COURT: Okay. In accordance with the laws .of the state of Nevada, this
25

Court does now sentence you as follows, in addition to a $25 administrative

-12-
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assessment, $150 DNA fee, order that you submit to genetic marker testing.

) 2 As to Count 1, the attempt murder charge, the Courtis going to
= 3 |l sentence you to a term of 8 to 20 years in the Nevada Department of Corrections,
: 4 |Iplus a consecutive term of 5 to 15 years in the Nevada Department of Corrections,
: 5 || based upon the factors enumerated in NRS 193.165, subsection 1.
| 6 As to Count 2, Count 3, the' Court is going to make a determination that
7 |lis just and appropriate to treat you as a habitual criminarl and sentence you under
8 ||the habitual criminal statute, the small habitual.
9 As to Count 2, sentence you to 8 to 20 years in the Nevada Department
] 10 |[ of Corrections to run concurrent to Count 1.
ﬁ! " Count 3, 8 to 20 years in the Nevada Department of Corrections to run
12 || consecutive to Count 1 and 2.
13 How much credit does he have?
14 MRULEMAN:Sorry, |- didn't figure that_out before.Looks like he has 581.
15 THE COURT: 581 days credit for time served.
16 I'm sorry, did anybody have victim statements? | apologize.
17 " MR. HILLMAN: That was done before. | 7
18 THE COURT: Okay. | know it Was done before and | know it was done in
19 || front of Judge Barker and it- was preserved, but 1 would absolutely allow the victims
20 |[to speak today.
21 MR. BURNS: Thank you, Your Honor. But | believe only Earl, the father, wés
- 22 || going to speak. |
_ 23 THE COURT: Okay.
24 MR. BURNS: So Anika did not plan to speak so | think everything’s included
25 ||in the record.

13-
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THE COURT: Okay. | didn't see Anika here.
Are you Anika's father? |

- THE DEFENDANT’S FATHER: I'm his father.
THE COURT: I'm sotry?
THE DEFENDANT’S FATHER: I'm Bennett Grimes’ father.
THE COURT: Okay. | apologize. Okay. Thank you, sir.
THE DEFENDANT’S FATHER: No, that's okay, Judge.
THE COURT: Thank you. |

[Proceeding concluded at 10:20 a.m.]
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ATTEST: I hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the audio/visual
recording in the above-entitled case. -

Ji¥Jacoby “
Court Recorder
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PROPOSED DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONNO. 9
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If you find that the State did not prove beyond a réasonable doubt that Bennett Grimes

entered the apartment with a weapon, you must find him not guilty of Burglary with a Deadly B

Ll Ll

Weapon in Violation of a Temporary Protective Order.
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Crawford v. State, 121 P3d 582, 586
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INSTRUCTION NO.

fuy

If evidence of self-defense is present, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt
that the defendant did not act in self-defense. If you find that the State has failed to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in self-defense, you must find the

defendant not guilty.

O 00 =1 N i B W N

[ T S T e
BOOW N = D

16
17
18
19
20 -
o Ay

22

: N ) o) /% P

25
] 26
| 27
- 28

|




R 0 S

juld

oo =1 v L B W N e

T T e T
h o W N = O

INSTRUCTIONNO.

The right of self-defense is not available to an original aggressor.
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INSTRUCTIONNO.__
If a person attempts to kill another in self-defense, it must appear that:

I. The danger was so urgent and pressing that, in order to save the person’s own life, or
to prevent the person from receiving great bodily harm, the attempt killing of the other was
absolutely necessary; and

2. The person attempted to be killed was the assailant, or that the non-assailant had

really, and in good faith, endeavored to decline any further struggle before the mortal blow

was given.
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INSTRUCTION NO.
Where a person without voluntarily seeking, provoking, inviting, or willingly
engaging in a difficulty of his own free will, is attacked by an assailant, he has the right to

stand his ground and need not reireat when faced with the threat of deadly force.
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INSTRUCTION NO.

The use of a deadly weapon against another is justifiable and not unlawful when
committed by a person in the lawful defense of himself, when he has reasonable ground to
believe that he is in danger of death or great bodily injury and that there is imminent danger
of such a design being accomplished

In order to justify the use of a deadly weapon in self-defense the person using the
weapon, as a reasonable man, must have reason to believe and must believe that he is in

imminent danger of death or of great bodily injury; and, further, the circumstances must be

such that an ordinarily reasonable person, under similar circumstances, would believe that it

was necessary for him to use, in his defense and to avoid imminent death or great bodily
injury to himself, such force or means as might cause the death of his adversary.

A bare fear of death or great bodily injury is not sufficient to justify the use of a
deadly weapon against another, To justify such use, the circumstances must be such as to
excite the fears of a reasonable man placed in a similar position, and the party using the

weapon must act under the influence of such fears alone and not in a spirit of revenge.

—_
~3

18 |
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Words of abuse, insult or reproach addressed to a person, without any threat of injury

or attempt to inflict injury, will not justify a battery with the use of a deadly weapon.
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INSTRUCTION NO.

The right of self-defense exists only as long as the real or apparent threatened danger

continues to exist. When such danger ceases to appear to exist, the right to use force in self-

defense ends.
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INSTRUCTIONNO.
The attempt killing of another person in self-defense is justified and not unlawful
when the person who does the attempt killing actually and reasonably believes:
1. That there is imminent danger that the assailant will either kill him or cause him
great bodily injury; and
2. That it is absolutely necessary under the circumstances for him to use in self-
defense force or means that might cause the death of the other person, for the purpose of

avoiding death or great bodily injury to himself.
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PROPOSED DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONNO. 12

Due to the fact that the police elected not to collect the fingerprints on the knife, you are to

presume the fingerprint evidence would have shown that Bennett Grimes’ fingerprints were not on

the knife and that Aneka Grimes’ fingerprints were on the knife.

State v. Daniels, 114 Nev, 261 (1998)
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PROPOSED DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONNO, __ 1

Every person charged with the commission of a crime shall be presumed innocen.
This presumption places upon the State the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt every
material element of each of the crimes charged.

N.R.S. §175.191

Bidke v. State, 121 Nev. 779 (2005)
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PROPOSED DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONNO. 5
Srwfe
To support a conviction for attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon, the Distriet

+tterney must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that;

(1) Mr. Grimes had the specific intent to kill Aneka Grimes and

(2) that Mr. Grimes used a deadly weapon
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PROPOSED DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONNO. 6
The reasonable doubt standard requires the jury to reach a subjective state of near certitude

on the facts in issue.

Holmes v. State, 114 Nev. 1357, 972 P.2d 337 (1998); Randolph v. State 117 Nev. 970 (2001.)
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PROPOSED DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONNO. 7

If the evidence permits two reasonable interpretations, one of which points to the
defendant's guilt and the other to his innocence, you must adopt the interpretation that points to the

defendant’s innocence, and reject that interpretation that points to his guilt.

| Crane v. State, 88 Nev. 684 (1972).
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[Las Vegas Metiopolitan Police Depmtment]

EvE 1107223412 [11052694 mml

I T

BLACK HANDLED STEAK KNIFE STAINLESS .
005223 STEEL CHINA 875" LONG WITH 5,5% LONG B
SUBOFF BLADE WITH APPARENT BLOOD AND
"l
g
. Time Event#
Prepared 1936

Date

Prepared 07-22-11 110722-3412

B O Recovered X Evidence O Found

8 O Safekeeping O Seizure O Other ' X Felony O Gross O Misd.

Suspect

Chuge  ATTEMPT HOMICIDE/ DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Location 9325 W. DESERT INN RD. #4-173__

Epounding Offcer's L5223R Signamre_\ s _'
L ) . N Z : =

’ IMP‘)UNDE[) ITEM Dl‘h( RIPTION

£ 4 ONE (1) BLACK HANDLED STEAK KNIFE 'STAINLESS STEEL
o | CHINA’ 9.75" LONG WITH 5.5" LONG BLADEWITH . ... ...

# APPARENT BLOOD AND VISIBLE PRINTS ON THE BLADE

- e , -

#

#

4

Total # of Packages 4

TIME
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DEFT'S EXHIBITS

CASE NO, L2063~

Date Offered  Objection  Date Admitied

1. Dfﬁm"‘w 0f Npar %MIM/QL [0<t0~(} | No | fo-{i-la
|B_Digram of Apartruant 142 [no |10
| Digacawn o Apurtnient 0112 | 1o |10-1(-12
0. Dl ot Aport 10/12{12 no | 1912417
E. Dipgaram of ﬁlﬁmf’ﬂw@/t# L ﬁ

S:ADeft's Exhibit List.doc3/15/2011
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BENNETT GRIMES, ) No. 62835
)
Appellant, )
)
vi. )
)
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
)
Respondent. )
)
APPELLANT’S APPENDIX VOLUME V PAGES 930-108¢
PHILIP J. KOHN STEVE WOLFSON
Clark County Public Defender Clark County District Attorney
309 South Third Street 200 Lewis Avenue, 3 Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

Attorney for Appellant CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO
Attorney General
100 North Carson Street
Carson Cll'%’ Nevada 89701-4717
(702) 687-3538

Counsel for Respondent
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby cerlify that this document was filed electronically with the Nevada
Supreme Court on the ]E icw’day of M , 2013. Electronic Service of the
foregoing document shall be made in accordanc/e with the Master Service List as follows

CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO HOWARD S. BROOKS
STEVEN S. OWENS DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK
I further certify that I served a copy of this document by mailing a true and

correct copy thereof, postage pre-paid, addressed to:

BENNETT GRIMES

NDOC # 1098810

c/o HIGH DESERT STATE PRISON
P.O. Box 650

Indian Springs, NV 8907 ﬁ
BY

Emp’Clark County Puplic Defender’s Office




